
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Tuesday, 9 December, 2014 
 

1.00 pm 
 

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please note the earlier start time of 1.00 pm 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 





 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Tuesday, 9 December, 2014, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

  
 Telephone 03000 416172 

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting  
 

Membership (13) 
 
Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 

Mr G Lymer and Mrs J Whittle 
 

UKIP (2): Mr B Neaves and Mrs Z Wiltshire 
 

Labour (1): Mr R Truelove 
 

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr M J Vye 
 

Co-opted Members 
(4): 

 Mrs T Carpenter, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths and Ms C Moody 
 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 
Item 
No 

 
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports. 
 
 
A.  PANEL BUSINESS 
A1 Substitutes  
A2 Minutes of the Panel meeting held on 24 October 2014 (Pages 5 - 14) 
A3 Chairman's Announcements  
A4 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council  



A5 Cabinet Member's Verbal Update (Pages 15 - 16) 
A6  Meeting Dates 2015 - amended start times  
 The Panel’s 2015 meeting dates were reported to the Panel on 24 October, but 

the start times of the afternoon sessions have since been brought forward. The 
new list is as follows:- 
 
Friday 13 February, 10.00 am  
Thursday 9 April, new start time 1.00 pm 
Thursday 18 June, new start time 1.00 pm 
Thursday 3 September, new start time 1.00 pm 
Friday 23 October, 10.00 am 
Tuesday 8 December, new start time 1.00 pm 
 
All meetings will take place at County Hall, Maidstone. 
  
 

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 
B1 The Share Foundation and Junior ISAs for Children in Care (Pages 17 - 22) 
B2 Therapy and Counselling services for Children and Young People with Emotional 

Wellbeing needs (including mental health) (Pages 23 - 30) 
B3 Update on Adoption Service (Pages 31 - 92) 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services  
03000 416647 
 
Monday, 1 December 2014 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 
 



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 

 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 24 October 2014. 
 
PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs T Carpenter, 
Mrs P T Cole, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Mr M J Vye and Mrs Z Wiltshire 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr P Segurola (Interim Director of Specialist Children's Services), 
Mr P Brightwell (Head of Quality Assurance, Children's Safeguarding Team), 
Mr T Doran (Head Teacher of Looked After Children - VSK), Mrs S Skinner (Service 
Business Manager, Virtual School Kent) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services 
Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 

38. Apologies and Substitutes  
(Item A1) 
 
The Democratic Service Officer announced that apologies had been received from 
Stuart Griffiths, Geoff Lymer, Roger Truelove and Jenny Whittle. No substitutions had 
been announced.   
 

39. Minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 2014  
(Item A2) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 4 September are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters arising. 
 

40. Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) held on 
4 September 2014  
(Item A3) 
 
1. RESOLVED that these be noted.   
 
2. Matters arising: Mr Vye raised two issues:- 

 
a) Foster Carers often needed and sought a different type of support from 

CAMHS from that given to the children in their care, and their needs would 
need to be covered in any future debate of this issue; and 

b) the KCPG had received a useful presentation from the Share Foundation 
about Junior ISAs for children in care, and the Panel was due to consider 
the same issue at its December meeting, with the aim of raising the profile 
of the issue.  Mr Brightwell added that the County Council was hoping to be 
able to encourage Kent businesses to offer additional support to Kent 
children in care, in the form of charitable donations to savings, which would 
be shared between all children in care for them to access when they turned 

Page 5

Agenda Item A2



 

18. The Chairman asked about the possibility of making a bid to Children in 
Need for a contribution to children in care but Mrs Skinner explained that 
this had previous been considered and discounted.  The Share Foundation 
had been set up by the Government with the express purpose of helping 
children in care to prepare financially for their future. 

 
41. Chairman's Announcements  

(Item A4) 
 
The Chairman made the following announcements:- 
 

a) Sophia Dunstan had recently given birth to a beautiful baby girl and the 
Panel agreed to send its congratulations and best wishes to her;  

b) the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been looking into 
CAMHS and had received a report to its 10 October meeting, which would 
be copied to all Panel members. Mr Brookbank added that Greg Clarke MP 
had taken a great interest in CAMHS and had committed to press for the 
issue to be debated in Parliament; and 

c) the Panel had a number of afternoon meetings planned for 2015 (listed on 
the agenda and in minute 44, below) and she hoped that the start times 
could be brought forward to 1.00 pm wherever possible, to help those 
Panel members who needed to collect children from school. 

 
42. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)  

(Item A5) 
 
1. Mrs Skinner gave a verbal update, as follows:- 
 

a) while the Chairman of the OCYPC, Sophia Dunstan, was away on 
maternity leave, the Vice-Chairman would take over her role;  

b) an agenda for a ‘Speak Up, Be Heard’ workshop to be held in half-term, on 
30 October, was tabled.  The aims of the workshop were to increase 
awareness and the effectiveness of the OCYPC, to write a constitution for 
it and to encourage new members to join. A good attendance was 
expected; 

c) events arranged for half-term included a taster day for the work of the 
OCYPC, a Hallowe’en event at Hever Castle and an event at Kingswood 
activity centre;  

d) three new VSK apprentices were shortly to be recruited, making a total 
cohort of six by the end of November. Two of the new apprentices were 
care leavers and the other had first-hand experience of the issues faced by 
care leavers.  VSK also supported the care leavers apprentice scheme as 
part of the assisted apprentice scheme; and 

e) Sophia’s replacement on the Panel would attend the Panel’s December 
meeting.  An informal meeting would first take place between the new VSK 
apprentices, the Panel Chairman and Mr Segurola. 
 

2. In response to a question about trying to integrate young people in care with 
other young people in their area, perhaps by encouraging them to enrol in projects 
such as the Duke of Edinburgh award scheme, Mrs Skinner said that some young 
people in care did not wish to be picked out as such or treated differently from any 
other young person.  Some children in care were on the Youth County Council and 

Page 6



 

attended bodies such as Youth Advisory Groups, but not as representatives of the 
care population. Their participation in such groups gave them a way of expressing a 
view on issues which were part of ‘normal’ teenage life. However, many young 
people were unaware of the issues faced by their contemporaries who were in care, 
so could benefit from some awareness-raising.  
 
3. Panel members expressed a wish to resurrect the meetings which had taken 
place between young people in care and the former Children’s Champions Board, at 
which informal discussion had been possible. It was important that the Panel should 
be able to hear first-hand how young people in care wished to relate to and be 
supported by their corporate parents.  

 
4. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks.  
 

43. Cabinet Member's Verbal Update  
(Item A6) 
 
1. Mr P Oakford gave a verbal update on the following issues:- 
 
Ofsted review of Children’s Centres – the outcome of this review had been varied, 
with some centres scoring well and some not. 
Adoption Activity Day – this had been a great success, with 12 or 13 of the 19 
children who attended being matched with prospective adopters. The children 
involved had been those who were traditionally harder to place, and the success of 
this day challenged the previous negative media criticism of adoption events. 
Meeting with Tim Smith, lead Police Officer for child sexual exploitation (CSE) 
and Trafficking – Mr Smith had offered an informal briefing for members and Mr 
Oakford asked Panel members to contact him if any wished to take up this offer. 
Day out with principal social worker – a day spent at the local office, at a disability 
centre and on house calls around the Swale area with a principal social worker had 
been very enlightening, and he recommended that other elected Members take up 
the opportunity to do the same. He expressed his admiration for the professional and 
calm way in which the young female social worker dealt with the aggressive parents 
of a difficult family.  He had seen at first-hand how much of a social worker’s time 
(approximately 70%) was spent on administrative tasks.   
Ofsted CSE review – Mr Segurola added that Kent had been one of eight local 
authorities to receive a thematic review of safeguarding practices and the way in 
which it dealt with child sexual exploitation issues. Four inspectors had spent a week 
in the directorate in mid-October, and initial verbal feedback had been very useful. 
Operation Lakeland and multi-agency working had been praised and there were 
constructive points around the quality of practice. There would be no formal written 
report for each local authority but an overall written report on all eight authorities. 
 
2. Mr Oakford and Mr Segurola responded to comments and questions, as 
follows:- 
 

a) Mr Segurola undertook to follow up a request by a Panel member to spend 
a day shadowing a social worker.  He supported Mr Oakford’s comments 
about the value of accompanying a social worker for a day and added that 
social workers were also very pleased to be accompanied as it made them 
feel valued and supported; 

Page 7



 

b) concern was expressed about the level of liaison between Ofsted and the 
Home Office about the placing of sex offenders. The pattern of placements 
in Kent by other local authorities meant that children with complex needs 
and higher risks were concentrated in some areas of the county.  Mr 
Segurola explained that a placing authority was now required to consult the 
host authority before placing a child, and the effectiveness of this new 
requirement would hopefully soon be seen; and 

c) a related concern was raised about other local authorities placing 
vulnerable children in privately-run children’s homes in Kent, and the 
difficulties of monitoring standards of care and safeguarding in those 
homes.  Ofsted needed to be persuaded of these difficulties. Mr Segurola 
assured Panel members that the issue of other local authorities placing 
large numbers of children in Kent had been raised as part of the recent 
inspection, and Mr Oakford said that he and Mr Ireland would be writing to 
the Government to continue the lobbying about this issue and its impact, 
particularly in Thanet, which Mrs Whittle had pursued as the previous 
Cabinet Member. It was vital that the restriction upon placing children 
further than 20 miles from their home was enforced and taken seriously. Mr 
Doran added that the placement of many children with complex needs also 
had an impact on the schools in which they were placed. The new schools 
inspection regime meant that all schools would now be judged in the same 
way, with no account being taken of the disproportionate number of 
children in care or UASC which some Kent schools were required to 
accommodate. 

 
3. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks, and the concerns expressed 

were generally supported by the Panel.  
 

44. Meeting dates 2015  
(Item A7) 
 
1. The Panel noted that the following dates had been reserved for its meetings in 
2015:- 
 
Friday 13 February - 10.00 am 
Thursday 9 April – 2.00 pm 
Thursday 18 June – 2.00 pm 
Thursday 3 September – 2.00 pm 
Friday 23 October – 10.00 am 
Tuesday 8 December – 2.00 pm 
 
2. The Chairman said she hoped that the start times of afternoon meetings could 
be brought forward to 1.00 pm wherever possible. This change was made following 
the meeting. 
 

45. CQC Review of Health Services - West Kent, Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
and Swale CCGs  
(Item B1) 
 
Ms N Sayer, Designated Nurse for Looked After Children, Kent and Medway, and Mr 
G Wheat, Chief Nurse of North Kent CCG, were in attendance for this item. 
 

Page 8



 

1. Ms Sayer introduced the report and summarised the key parts of the CQC 
report, in particular the areas which had been praised as good, such as initial health 
assessments to measure a child’s state of health when entering care, and areas 
identified as needing improvement, such as health services for UASC and a central 
record of a child’s health history to which they could refer back in later years. Ms 
Sayer, Mrs Skinner and Mr Brightwell responded to comments and questions from 
Panel members, as follows:- 

 
a) Mrs Carpenter said that, as a Foster Carer, she was always careful to keep 

medical records for her foster children so they could take complete and 
reliable information when they moved on. Maintaining good medical records 
would be helped if there were a requirement in the placement plan to check 
that records were up to date. Mrs Skinner clarified that every child in care had 
an extended version of the ‘red book’ which was issued to any mother upon 
the birth of a child, in which the child’s medical records and other information 
could be recorded for posterity.  She clarified that the new Liberi data 
management system included a facility to ‘cut and paste’ medical and other 
information about a child from one record to another so records could be kept 
complete and up to date. She reassured the Panel that if a foster carer did not 
receive such information at the start of a new placement they were 
encouraged to ask the social worker to provide it;  

 
b) in response to a question about checking that a child attended medical 

appointments, Ms Sayer explained that, for a statutory health assessment, it 
was the joint responsibility of a social worker, foster carer and health visitor to 
ensure that a child attended, and for other types of appointment, eg 
outpatients, it was a shared health and social care responsibility.  She added 
that a child would be encouraged to view attendance at a health a check as a 
positive activity, although the difficulty and discomfort experienced by some 
children having to attend frequent health checks, perhaps due to frequent 
placement changes, was acknowledged. Mr Brightwell added that, as part of 
their role, an IRO should check that medical checks for any child had been 
undertaken and were up to date;  
 

c) Mrs Skinner explained that all local authorities were required to return the 
carers’ section of the ‘strengths and difficulties’ questionnaire. Kent had a 
good record of returning these. A new carer could find it difficult to complete 
the carers section for a newly-placed child whom they did not yet know well.  
For this reason, the strengths and difficulties’ questionnaire was not the most 
reliable record; 
 

d) responding to a question about the responsibility for encouraging good health 
among UASC, Mr Brightwell explained that there were IROs who specialised 
in the issues experienced by UASC and who would take on issues around 
health, as well as educational attainment, eg by reviewing after-school activity.  
As the number of UASC had increased, the challenge of keeping abreast of 
these issues had also increased.  However, challenges in maintaining good 
health and fitness were not limited to UASC.  Mr Segurola added that 
impending structural changes to UASC services would seek to integrate them 
more closely with services for all children in care early in 2015; 
 

Page 9



 

e) the importance to all children in care of undertaking the initial health 
assessment was emphasised, as they would be coming into care at a 
particularly vulnerable time of their lives.  Initial health assessments should be 
completed within 20 days of a child coming into care;  
 

f) in response to a question about the priority placed upon a UASC’s mental 
health when coming into care, Ms Sayer explained that the initial health 
assessment would cover all aspects of health and a joint health and social 
care plan would be established to address any issues arising from the 
assessment.  Vaccinations were a particular priority as many UASC would 
have come from countries in which organised vaccination programmes did not 
exist.  Mental health issues were not a particular priority.  An assessment of all 
issues would be undertaken at once and referrals to specialised services 
made, all at the same time.  It was possible that some services would take up 
the referral earlier than others;  
 

g) the challenges in addressing mental health issues for UASC were outlined. 
For support to be effective, a young person would need to be ready to talk 
about their mental health issues and be open to accepting support. To attempt 
to address issues too early might lead to the young person withdrawing and 
refusing to engage. Mr Brightwell added that a fine balance was needed.  
UASC may have witnessed and experienced traumatic events but could often 
appear to be less traumatised by them than might be expected.  It was very 
difficult to judge the ability of UASC to cope with trauma. A green paper 
produced as part of Care Matters in 2006 had included a good description of 
emotional and physical health issues of UASC and children in care, which had 
estimated that some 60% of children in care had some existing emotional 
health and wellbeing issues, and coming into care could add to these. Mr 
Brightwell undertook to supply a copy of this paper to Panel members.  This 
was done following the meeting; 
 

h) the Panel had heard previously about the challenges of assessing the true age 
of UASC, partly due to a lack of formal paperwork available and partly 
because UASC often did not wish to reveal their age.  Ms Sayer added that 
newly-arrived UASC had apparently been well informed about the checks 
which would be made when they arrived in the UK and would often refuse to 
attend dental appointments as this would involve the taking of  X-rays, which 
could reveal their true age;  
 

i) the Panel asked that a follow-up report on the outcomes of the CQC review be 
submitted in six months’ time, and that this report include the review work 
being undertaken by Newton Europe.  
 

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, the action plan be supported, a follow-up 
report on the outcomes of the CQC review be submitted in six months’ time.  

        
46. Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) Annual Report  

(Item B2) 
 

Page 10



 

1. Mr Doran introduced the report and highlighted the key areas of progress 
against national performance indicators and the challenges in meeting some of 
these, including: 

a) Kent had three times the national average number of UASCs in its schools 
but no account was taken of this in measuring its GCSE results (many 
UASCs arrived at a time when they could not reasonably be expected to 
have settled sufficiently to score well at GCSE); 

b) the method of measuring GCSE outcomes had changed in the last year, so 
a clear comparison this year had not been possible; and 

c) the drop in the rate of GCSE passes had been exacerbated by the fact that 
resits in November could not be counted towards the overall total. 

 
2. He responded to comments and questions from Panel members, as follows:- 
 

a) special schools had a different financing structure to state schools and 
would apply the pupil premium differently.  Foster carers wishing to help 
children to access services such as music therapy could apply for pupil 
premium plus. Mr Doran clarified that statutory guidance stated that pupil 
premium plus was to be used only to support attainment or accelerate 
progress. He undertook to send information to Foster Carers about the 
website which detailed how to apply for such funding, and the Chairman 
asked that social workers also be reminded of how to apply for this so they 
could advise other foster carers. Mrs Carpenter confirmed that many foster 
carers had struggled to access such funding, for example to help build 
social skills. Mr Doran also undertook to respond to individual queries 
about access to specialist funding outside the meeting;  

b) arising from the apparent lack of clarity around the purpose of the pupil 
premium plus, Panel members asked that an explanation of the use of this 
fund, the challenges of accessing it, and how its use could be audited, be 
included in the next report; and 

c) VSK had recently acquired responsibility for working with 16 to 18 year 
olds, and Panel members asked that the next report also include an 
explanation of how engagement with this age group would be approached.  

 
3. RESOLVED that the progress made be noted, and that the next update report 

to the Panel include an explanation of the use of pupil premium plus, the 
challenges of accessing it, and how its use could be audited, and an 
explanation of how engagement with the 16 to 18 age group would be 
approached. 

 
47. The Views of Young People in Care  

(Item B3) 
 
1. Mrs Skinner and Mr Brightwell introduced the report and summarised the key 
points, in particular the ongoing challenge of finding ways of engaging with young 
people and seeking their views without adding to the ‘survey fatigue’ which had 
become apparent in recent years. Use of social media and instant messaging 
technology was an obvious alternative way of engaging, and the IRO service was 
currently developing an app, but encouraging social workers to embrace new 
technology was an ongoing challenge. Mr Brightwell responded to comments and 
questions from the Panel, as follows:- 
 

Page 11



 

a) a new medium called ‘liquid drop’ would potentially be very useful as it 
could convert text to email.  This had the advantage of being quick and 
easy to access and use from a mobile while giving a written record of 
conversations in the form of an email string.  Kent already had a licence to 
use this technology as it was used by other services; 

b) key corporate parents and service directors needed to find a means of 
meeting up with young people informally to hear their views.  It was 
suggested that the custom of the former Children’s Champions Board, of 
meeting regularly with young people from the Young Lives Foundation and 
the 16+ provider, be resurrected.  Mr Brightwell suggested that the Panel 
invite representatives of the OCYPC to a Christmas meal; 

c) it was important to measure young people’s contentment but finding a way 
to do this would be a challenge. Mr Brightwell acknowledged the challenge 
of doing this and said that, although those who worked closely with young 
people could usually identify signs of content and  comfort, measuring 
them was a challenge;  

d) although apps were a good way to communicate and gather feedback, a 
method of collating that feedback, and who should undertake  that role, 
had yet to be identified;  

e) social networking media were less useful for engagement as they brought 
with them a level of risk around safeguarding issues;  

f) the way in which questions were worded was important; it was difficult to 
ask questions in a way which could identify the real picture; and 

g) reducing duplication between surveys by different bodies nationally was 
also important, as young people would not want to answer the same 
questions repeatedly. However, co-ordination would be a challenge. 

 
2. RESOLVED that the report and the proposed actions be noted and a further 

update report be submitted to the Panel in six months’ time.  
 

48. Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Manager’s Annual  Report 2013-14  
(Item B4) 
 
1. Mr Brightwell introduced the report and explained that it was a statutory 
requirement that elected Members receive an annual report on the work of the IRO 
service, with the content of the report being prescribed. The aim of the IRO service 
was to provide subtle support to social workers and encourage improvement of 
practice. An ongoing challenge was the drive to reduce caseloads, although the 
average caseload for each IRO had been reduced from 120 (in 2010) to 86 (in July 
2013) to a current target of 74.  Caseload size was dictated by the number of children 
in care, which, it was hoped, could be reduced further, although the high and volatile 
number of UASC in Kent would make such a reduction difficult to achieve. Another 
ongoing challenge was to decrease the amount of time IROs spent on administration 
so the time spent with children could be maximised.  
 
2. In responding to a comment that the challenge which IROs were able to bring 
to social work practice was robust, with the percentage of cases reviewed having 
risen from 23% to 30% in the last two years, Mr Brightwell explained that an IRO 
workshop in November would explore the issue of providing an effective balance of 
robust challenge and support.  The IRO service was the only one to have this 
important dual role; Ofsted challenged service provision but did not have a support 
role. 

Page 12



 

 
3. RESOLVED that the annual IRO management report, and its findings, be 

noted, and the Panel’s thanks for and appreciation of the role that IROs 
undertake in supporting young people in care, be recorded and conveyed to 
them.  

 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
By:  Mr P J Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services 

 
 
To:  Corporate Parenting Panel – 9 December 2014 
 
 
Subject:  Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member  
 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
 

 
 
The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:- 
 

1. Child Sexual Exploitation awareness session for Members of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel and the Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet Committee 
 

2. Visits with principal practitioner to Folkestone 
 

3. Kent Safeguarding Children Board Annual Conference – ‘Voice of the Child’ 
 

4. E.safety 
 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item A5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

By:                           Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s  
                                Services 
                             

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director – Social Care Health and 
Wellbeing 

 
To:                           Corporate Parenting Panel – 9 December 2014 
 
Subject                     THE SHARE FOUNDATION AND JUNIOR ISA’S FOR 

 CHILDREN IN CARE 
 
Classification:           Unrestricted 
___________________________________________________________________ 
Summary: Provides a short briefing on the remit of the Share Foundation 

and Junior ISAs in relation to Kent’s Children in Care. Identifies 
what elected members (Corporate Parents) can do to encourage 
contributions to be made from local businesses and also how 
elected members might assist either directly by contributing 
some of their budget or indirectly. 

 
Recommendations: Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to: 

a) NOTE the various sources of saving accounts held on 
behalf of Kent Children in Care. 
b) CONSIDER whether the County Council should work with 
the Share Foundation to encourage additional fund raising 
through local businesses and other bodies. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1  The Share Foundation operates the Junior ISA scheme for children and young 

people in care (known as ‘Looked After’) on behalf of the Department for 
Education. It is responsible for: 

• Opening their accounts with an initial Government contribution of 
£200; 

• Ensuring that their accounts are properly operated and invested 
appropriately with a range of Junior ISA providers; 

• Raising additional voluntary contributions by donation or fund-
raising to build the value of their accounts or by money transferred 
by carers or local authorities to individual accounts. 

• Providing financial education to help ensure responsible use of the 
funds when the Junior ISAs mature at age 18. 

 
1.2 In autumn 2011 the Government announced support for children and young 

people who have been in care for at least one year and do not have a Child 
Trust Fund. Key to the plans is the help of Local Authorities throughout 
England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland in identifying eligible children 
and young people so that The Share Foundation can open the accounts and 
attract further funds for them (extract taken from the share foundation website). 

 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item B1



 

 
2. Service to Kent Children in Care 
 
2.1 The Share Foundation Operations Manager has visited Kent several times to 

present to operational managers groups including the Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group. 

 
2.2  A breakdown of accounts administered by the Share Foundation in relation to 

Kent Children in Care since 2011 (as of 15.10.14) is as follows: 
• 752 – Active Accounts – £155,950 is currently invested for these accounts  
• 271 – Children have left care as a result of reaching 18 years old, who 

have/had a Junior ISA account set up for them under the scheme 
• 123 – Children have left care under the age of 18 years who have a Junior 

ISA account set up for them under the scheme 
• 243 – Payments have been issued for young people in LIEU of a Junior 

ISA account being set up - 53 of these were over the age of 17yrs 10mths 
old when The Share Foundation was first notified so there was felt to be 
no point opening an account for less than 2 months. 190 had left care 
before the scheme was set up but met all the criteria to receive a payment; 
hence they were sent a cheque as a Junior ISA could not be opened on 
their behalf. 

• 141 – Young people are eligible to receive a payment, as the forms have 
yet to be returned for processing. This group were part of the cohort who 
left care before the scheme was set up but met all the criteria to receive a 
payment, but have yet to return their claim form so the funds can be 
claimed from the DfE and them then issued with a cheque. 

 
3. Other sources of funding & investment opportunities 
 
3.1 Criminal Injuries Compensation Awards are made to some Children in Care.  

The Criminal Injuries Compensation Scheme is a government funded scheme 
that allows blameless victims of violent crime to receive a financial award. The 
Criminal Injuries Compensation Authority (CICA) administers awards of 
compensation to people who have suffered personal injuries directly 
attributable to a crime of violence. Compensation in cases of family violence 
became payable for incidents occurring on or after 1 October 1979. To assist 
the promotion of the interest of children in its care, the SCS Directorate 
facilitates the prompt processing of compensation applications. 

 
3.2 If an award is made to a child it is retained by CICA and invested and 

administered on behalf of, and for the sole benefit of the child and it is 
expected that the award will be invested on behalf of the child until the age of 
18. However, there may be circumstances whereby an advance could be 
made from the award but should only be used for the child’s ‘advancement, 
education or other benefits’.  

3.3 Child Trust Funds (CTF) were set up by the government in 2001 resulting in 
all children born on or after September 1 2002 receiving money (£250 or £500 
depending on parents financial circumstances) from the government that was 
then put into an account and held for them until they reach 18 years of age. 
The CTFs were then ‘topped up’ by the same amount again by the 
government when a child reached the age of seven. Relatives and friends 

Page 18



 

could pay extra money into the CTF, to a maximum of £1,200 a year. CTF 
accounts for Children in Care are held by the Official Solicitor. 

3.4 In order to ensure children in the care of Kent County Council born before the 
implementation of CTF’s did not lose out; Kent Pledge funding was agreed. A 
commitment was made within the Kent Pledge in 2008 to invest £100 into a 
savings account for Children in Care and Care Leavers (born before 
September 2002) for every full year they spent in care between April 2008 
and March 2011.  To honour this commitment, Kent County Council opened a 
Kent Pledge savings account for eligible young people and deposited the 
money owed into their account (this amount has been backdated to each full 
year they spent in care post April 2008).  When they turn 18, their account can 
be closed and they are entitled to receive this money. 
This commitment by KCC ceased in 2011 when the CTF initiative ended.  

 
4. Investment 
 
4.1 Work is in place to transfer money held in the Kent Pledge funds to The Share 

Foundation accounts to ensure the maximum interest is accrued for our 
children in care. There has been some discussion as to whether all three 
accounts could be amalgamated, but there is some uncertainty around this 
which is being explored. Currently, funds can be transferred from the CICA to 
the Junior ISA, subject to the maximum annual contribution limit of £4,000. 
The Share Foundation has asked that CICA awards are able to be transferred 
to the Junior ISA without the cap being enforced and is awaiting a response 
from HMRC.  

 
4.2 Social workers and Foster Carers should be aware of the three different types 

of investments and some carers have contributed to the Share Foundation 
accounts. 

 
5. Fund Raising 
 
5.1 There have been discussions within Kent County Council and with Partner 

agencies regarding the potential to increase funds for our children in care by 
seeking the support and financial donations from local Kent businesses.  

 
5.2 One of the key work streams for The Share Foundation is to raise additional 

funds to increase the accounts of young people, which will maximise the 
amount they have when they reach 18 years old.  The Share Foundation has 
a Fund Raiser in post who is keen to develop new fundraising initiatives. She 
is planning a “stepladder of achievement" project and Kent County Council 
has been invited to participate, given our large number of children in care. The 
intention is for local trusts, community foundations and businesses to be 
approached with examples of how young people in care are making a 
difference and taking responsibility for their future. 

 
6. Conclusion 
 
6.1 Children in Care like other children benefit from their parent; in their case ‘The 

Corporate Parent’, ensuring there are savings for them to utilise when they 
reach adulthood and independence. The notion of fund raising locally to 

Page 19



 

increase the investment for Kent Children in Care is credible and requires 
consideration. 

 
 
7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to: 
 

a)  NOTE the various sources of saving accounts held on 
behalf of Kent Children in Care. 

b) CONSIDER whether the County Council should work with 
the Share Foundation to encourage additional fund 
raising through local businesses and other bodies. 

 
Background Documents 
Introduction to the Share Foundation Junior ISA scheme 
 
Report Author 
Sarah Skinner 
Business Service Manager 
Virtual School Kent 
Sarah.skinner@kent.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01233 898536 
 

Page 20



 

 

 

The Share Foundation Fundraising Briefing prepared for Kent County Council 

Introduction to The Share Foundation Junior ISA scheme 
The Share Foundation seeks to reduce the generational cycle of deprivation affecting the poorest 
children and young people in the UK by encouraging highly targeted wealth distribution. We 
support looked after children and young people in care, who have little prospect of financial 
resources, with particular focus on those young people leaving the care system. 
The Share Foundation’s Junior ISA scheme was launched in November 2012 and has achieved 100 
per cent implementation across English, Welsh and Northern Irish local authorities. There are 5 
Scottish local authorities yet to sign up but we continue to chase them!  To date, 61,156 children 
and young people have benefitted from the scheme. 
The Government provides an initial £200 to open each account; those eligible have been in care 
continuously for over one year and do not have a Child Trust Fund. The Share Foundation oversees 
the accounts, provides financial education materials and raises additional voluntary contributions 
to boost account values, in order to give young people in care a better start to adult life.  
A key purpose of the scheme is to provide guidance and familiarity to improve financial capability. 
It's the experience of handling real money which is particularly helpful in building financial 
capability, and various features are built into the scheme to support this.  
Every penny we raise goes directly into the Junior ISA accounts of young people as all our 
administration and fundraising costs are covered elsewhere. 
 
Fundraising Priorities 

In addition to the £12,231,200 received from the Department for Education, we have raised an 
additional £781,339 to add to the Junior ISAs of those specified children and young people. 
In terms of fundraising priorities, we focus on the 15-17 year olds, who are about the leave care. 
Their Junior ISA investment hasn’t had the time to grow so we have developed a number of 
initiatives to increase their engagement with the scheme. 
 
 
 

Page 21



 
We run a competition each month for 15-17 year olds called ‘£1,000 at 18’: the winner, who puts 
forward the best plans for use of the money, gets a £1,000 contribution to their Junior ISA. The 
prizes for the competition have been donated by a philanthropist, who supports our work. The 
purpose of the competition is to get young people thinking about their future and how to make 
the best use of the resources which we're able to make available for them and also to 
demonstrate that the money will be put to good use.  
We have contacted all 15-17 year old, sending leaflets to them via their local authorities. A total of 
17,500 leaflets were sent out for qualifying children, with to date over half having been returned. 
We are also launching a local initiative, the “Stepladder of Achievement” project. All registered 15-
17 year olds would be invited to join the scheme and would receive a defined sum (initially £150) 
when they have reached a level in respect of each of a series of achievements. The stepladder 
would be Literacy, Numeracy, Financial Capability and Mentoring. 
This scheme is currently in its planning stages but we envisage working with local authorities, 
virtual head teachers, other local agencies such as The Prince’s Trust and local businesses. 
 
How you can help. 

The Share Foundation is a national charity but we have a specific local focus. 
Where we have been successful locally is where we have a close working relationship with key 
people within the local authority, who would be able and willing to help us raise awareness of the 
project and also provide us with local knowledge. 
For example, these are a few ideas of how you can help (not an exhaustive list so please feel free 
to add any other ideas) 

• Identify key businesses, community organisations, Trusts/Foundations and individuals who 
are active in the local community. It is really helpful if we could have a name to contact and 
an introduction. Do any of the members belong to any groups or organisations who may 
want to fund local young people? 

• Help us raise awareness. Would there be anyone who could put The Share Foundation 
forward as a charity of the month or talk about the project to local organisations. (We 
would provide materials etc) 

• Get a group of volunteers together so we can arrange a street collection etc 
• Encourage young people to get involved with the project and, if appropriate, see if it is 

possible to link them to a particular funder. 
 
 
 
Kathryn Caswell 
Major Gift Fundraiser 
01 December 2014 

Page 22



 
 

 
From:   Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 

Services 
   Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director, Social Care Health and 

Wellbeing  
To:   Corporate Parenting Panel - 9 December 2014  
Subject:  THERAPY AND COUNSELLING SERVICES FOR CHILDREN 

AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH EMOTIONAL WELLBEING 
NEEDS (INCLUDING MENTAL HEALTH) 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary: This report contextualises the different levels of emotional wellbeing 
need that children and young people have and gives examples of the appropriate 
needs-led intervention.  
This report provides an overview of the current therapy and counselling offer for 
children and young people and, more specifically, children in care. In addition, the 
report describes the significant strategic partnership activity in developing a 0 to 25 
Emotional Wellbeing Strategy and Delivery Plan. 
Recommendation: Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the content of this 
report. 

1. Introduction  
1.1 There is significant national concern regarding emotional wellbeing (including 

mental health) for children, young people and young adults. The House of 
Commons Health Committee, Children and Adolescent Mental Health and 
CAMHS, report published on 5 November 2014, found that there are "serious 
and deeply ingrained problems with the commissioning and provision of 
children’s and mental health services. These run through the whole system 
from prevention and early intervention through to inpatients services for the 
most vulnerable young people".  

1.2  This report sets out the background to the commissioning of emotional 
wellbeing and mental health services and describes the tiers of services.  

2. Financial information 
2.1 The Children’s Commissioning Unit is currently responsible for services with 

an annual budget of £5.8m for early help and preventative services, of which 
£800,000 is for the Young Healthy Minds emotional wellbeing service and 
£642,000 is for the Post Sexual Abuse and Harmful Sexual Behaviour 
(including child sexual exploitation) services. These services address the 
wider context of children, young people and families’ emotional wellbeing. 
Where there are specific needs which cannot be met by the commissioned 
services, individual contracts or spot purchase arrangements can be put in 
place. 

Page 23

Agenda Item B2



 
 

2.2 In addition, Public Health supports wider community initiatives such as health 
visiting and Healthy Lifestyles which positively impact upon outcomes for 
Kent’s children and young people. 

2.3 The mental health contract is £15 million per year, of which KCC funds  
        £1 million for the dedicated children in care CAMH service. 
2.4 Schools have their own budget and commission their own counselling 

services to meet the needs of children and young people. 
3. Bold Steps for Kent and Policy Framework  
3.1 The services referred to in this report support the vision in Bold Steps, i.e. “to 

promote aspiration rather than dependency, particularly for those who are 
disadvantaged or who struggle to help themselves and their family”. 

4. Levels and types of support for emotional well-being 
4.1 In relation to service provision, emotional wellbeing is the term generally used 

for tiers 1 and 2 where children and young people do not have a diagnosed 
mental health need. Tiers 3 and 4 are specialist services for children and 
young people with complex and severe mental health needs. See table 1 
below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 
 

Table 1 Levels and types of support 
 
 
 

  Definition Number of CYP in 
Kent aged 4 - 17 

Examples of interventions 

Emotional 
well-
being 

Tier1 Prevention 

75% of CYP and young adults will not need 
any additional support from Emotional 

Wellbeing Services. They will receive sufficient 
support in times of difficulty from their families, 
peers, schools and wider CYP workforce to 

overcome the challenges they face. 

75% = 171,465 

School Health Advisors (school age) 
GPs & practice nurses 
Sport/leisure services 
Youth Services 
Schools provide emotional health & wellbeing 
interventions. 
Some additional services provided in schools by 
independent/ 
voluntary organisations 
School staff 
Children’s centres 
 

Emotional 
well-
being 

Tier 2 Early Help 
15% of CYP and young adults may need some 
additional help from services. Indicators may 
include responses to bullying, low mood, 

behavioural problems etc. 
 

15% =  34,293 
Education Psychologists 
School Counsellor 
Commissioned services 

Mental 
health Tier 3 Complex 

9% of CYP will experience significant 
emotional and behavioural difficulties which 

are complex /enduring and will require support 
from specialist services. 

9% = 20,575 

Therapeutic intervention – Approaches focusing 
on cognition & behaviour, 
family therapy, Interpersonal therapy 
Systemic Family Therapy 
Multi-systemic therapy 
 

Mental 
and acute 
health 

Tier 4 Severe 
1% of CYP will experience episodes of being 

seriously mentally ill requiring intensive 
support from specialist services and potentially 

inpatient care. 
 

1% =  2,286 
Acute care e.g. hospital 
Medication 
Psychological interventions,  
CBT 

 

P
age 25



 
 

 
5. Emotional wellbeing  
 
5.1 Emotional wellbeing is a vital factor in each of our lives, shaping the way in 

which we understand ourselves and one another and influencing a range of 
long-term outcomes.  We know that the long term consequences of 
inadequate support for children and young people with emotional difficulties 
can be enormous. Until we have effective support embedded at an early 
stage we will continue to see specialist mental health services over whelmed 
by demand. 

 
5.2 The prevalence of mental health needs in the normal population is 1 in 10 

children (or 15%).  45% of children in care are likely to have a mental health 
need (Source: 2002 ONS follow up study). For Kent this would be 
approximatly 800 children and young people. 

6. Universal support for children in care 
6.1 Children’s Centres 

Children’s centres are universal settings that provide a range of support to 
children aged 0-5 and their families, many of which contribute to emotional 
wellbeing.   

 
6.2 Schools 

Schools commission a range of emotional wellbeing support services, which 
are purchased at an individual school-level to respond to the needs of 
children and young people within the school community. 
 

6.3 Virtual Schools Kent 
The Virtual School (VSK) aims to bring about improvements in the education 
of children in care. Staff work in schools delivering one to one and small 
group support to raise attainment and build the wider skills of children and 
young people. They also work with teachers and support staff in schools to 
build specialist knowledge and capacity. 
 
VSK also provide Youth Mental Health First Aid training for schools staff who 
are not mental health trained, to help them respond initially to ensure they 
help children and young people get the prevention, intervention, referral and 
self-help they need. 

 
7. Targeted and specialist support for children in care 
 
7.1 The Young Lives Foundation estimates that 72% of children in care could 

have behavioural and emotional needs. For Kent this is approximately 1,296 
children and young people. 

 
7.2 Children in care CAMH service (CAMHS) 

There is a dedicated mental health service for children in care. This is part of 
the main community children and adolescent mental health service. This 
service is currently supporting 464 children and young people.  (See appendix 
1 table 2). The service is designed to provide support to the network around 
the child to prevent placement breakdown. 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
 

 
8. Young Healthy Minds  
 
8.1 This service operates alongside the Tier 2 element of CAMHS. This is a 

targeted preventative service; it is not designed for children in care. At the 
time that this service was commissioned there was significant investment in 
Specialist Children’s Services (SCS) and CAMHS. Therefore this service was 
not for children in care, but intended to prevent escalation of need in to SCS 
or CAMHS. 

9. Foreword plan - Emotional Wellbeing Strategy 
9.1 In April 2014, the Children’s Health & Wellbeing Board approved the 

establishment of a Task and Finish Group with the remit of  leading a multi-
agency Emotional Wellbeing Summit (July 2014). The aim of the group was to 
set the strategic direction for future delivery of emotional wellbeing services, 
including mental health. Following the summit the group is overseeing the 
development a multi-agency emotional wellbeing strategy. 

9.2 The draft strategy, provisionally entitled ‘The Way Ahead’, has been 
developed at  pace by partners on the Task and Finish Group, guided by the 
findings of consultation exercises with children, young people and families as 
well as views expressed at the Emotional Wellbeing Summit.   

9.3 The Strategy sits beneath the Kent Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and 
forms a key part of the response to two of its overarching outcomes: to 
ensure that ‘every child has the best start in life’ and that ‘people with mental 
health issues are supported to live well’.  The Way Ahead has adopted a 
complementary approach, and sets out a framework of four key outcomes 
(with promoting emotional wellbeing as a fifth overarching outcome, to be 
delivered across each level of need).  The document is currently being 
developed to adopt the same visual format, emphasising the relationship 
between the two strategies. 

10. Commissioning intentions 
10.1 Transformation 
 The 0-25 Unified Programme is Specialist Children’s Services response to the 

Transformation Challenge. The 0 - 25 Change Portfolio focuses on 
transforming the way we deliver services for children, young people and their 
families. By bringing together Specialist Children’s Services (SCS), Children’s 
Commissioning and Early Help and Preventative Services (EHPS) we can 
work together in a joined up way to ensure better outcomes for children and 
young people. 

10.2 Contracts for existing commissioned services from Tiers 2-4 (delivered by 
Young Healthy Minds and Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust are due to 
end in August 2015, with option to extend for up to 12 and 24 months 
respectively. The contract with South London and Maudsley NHS Trust, (T4) 
is due to end spring 2015.  Decisions will need to be taken within the next few 
months to determine what actions should be taken in relation to the future of 
these arrangements. Any decision will be informed by the Emotional 
Wellbeing Strategy and forthcoming Delivery Plan.  This will be considered by 
the Children’s Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Page 27



 
 

 
11. Conclusions 
11.1 There appears to be a gap in service provision for children in care (CIC) who 

need to access early help emotional wellbeing services.  They can access 
services commissioned by schools, but this is sporadic and the picture is 
unclear. CIC cannot currently access the commissioned emotional wellbeing 
service.  This is designed as a targeted preventative service, accessed via the 
Early Help Notification or when a child is ‘stepped down’ from Specialist 
Children’s Services. This should be addressed as part of the development of 
the  Emotional Wellbeing Strategy.  

12. Recommendation 
12.1 Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the content of this report. 
 
Background Documents 
None 
 
Report Authors 
Thom Wilson 
Head of Children’s Commissioning 
Thom.wilson@kent.gov.uk 
Tel: 01622 696679 
 
Philip Segurola 
Acting Director, Specialist Children's Services 
Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk 
Tel: 01622 691573 
 
Carol Infanti 
Strategic Commissioning 
Carol.infanti@kent.gov.uk 
Tel: 01622 694194 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 

 
 
     Appendix 1 – Performance data 
 
 
 
Table 2 CIC CAMHS open Cases September 2014 
 
CCG Ashford Canterbury 

and coastal 
DGS South 

Kent 
Coast 

Swale Thanet West 
Kent 

Out 
of 
area 

Total 

Total CIC open 
at end of Sept  28 97 36 74 75 96 49 9 464 

 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services 

 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director – Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing  

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 9 December 2014 

Subject: UPDATE ON ADOPTION SERVICE 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Summary: 
 
 
Recommendation: 

Attached are update reports providing information on: 
• Adopters’ Journey, April to September 2014 
• Children’s Adoption Journey, April to September 2014 
• Adoption Panel Chairs’ Report, April to September 2014 

 
 
Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the report and the 
associated appendices. 

 
 
1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 As reported to previous meetings of the Corporate Parenting Panel, Coram is 

working in partnership with the County Council to manage the Adoption 
Service.  

 
1.2 Attached for information are update reports on: 

• Adopters’ Journey, April to September 2014 
• Children’s Adoption Journey, April to September 2014 
• Adoption Panel Chairs’ Report, April to September 2014 

 
2.  Recommendation 
 
2.1 Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the report and the associated 

appendices. 
 

 
Background documents 
None 
 
Report Author 
Andrew Ireland,  
Corporate Director – Social Care, Health and Wellbeing 
andrew.ireland@kent.gov.uk 
01622 696083 

Page 31

Agenda Item B3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Kent County Council and Coram Partnership 
Corporate Parenting Panel: 9 December 2014 
Six-month Report on Adopters’ Journey 
April to September 2014 

 
   
  
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service and Improvement, Coram, Kent CC 
Kevin Yong, Senior Data Analyst, Coram 

Page 33



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

Table of Contents   
 
Introduction......................................................................................................................2 

Adopters’ enquiries ..........................................................................................................4 

ROIs (applications to Stage One) received from prospective adoptive households .........7 

Applications in Stage One ...............................................................................................9 

Applications to Stage Two (for assessment) received ................................................... 11 

Applications being assessed.......................................................................................... 13 

Adopters approved ........................................................................................................ 14 

Kent-approved Adopters matched with looked after children ......................................... 17 

Approved Adopters who have not yet adopted a child ................................................... 18 

Sufficiency Strategy ....................................................................................................... 20 

Service Update .............................................................................................................. 20 

Page 34



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

 

Introduction 
This report provides a detailed analysis of the adopters’ journey in Kent County 
Council for all adoptive households who made an enquiry, submitted a formal 
application to be assessed as adoptive households or whose application was 
presented to panel between 1 April and 30 September 2014. It also provides an 
update on our Sufficiency Strategy, which relates to ensuring we recruit sufficient 
numbers of adopters to match with the children we need to find adoptive homes for. 
 
The Recruitment and Assessment teams are provided with data from the Initial 
Enquiry Team (shared with Fostering Service), who are responsible for fielding initial 
enquiries from members of the public about adoption. The service itself uses a 
spreadsheet-based tool that captures data for the whole adopters’ journey, which it 
uses it to support effective performance management of every case we are dealing 
with. We continue to use this tool alongside Liberi as Liberi does not currently 
support the recording of the new two-stage recruitment process nor does it allow us 
to track our progress to the level of detail we need to be able to report on our 
performance in sufficient detail. 
 
All of the performance reported on in this report relates to the work of Recruitment 
and Assessment teams - there are two teams of social workers (made up of 15 full-
time equivalent posts and 1.6 team managers), supported by three assessment 
administrators, two enquiries administrators, and one database administrator (vacant 
between 5 September and 27 October). In September we had 14.2 FTE social 
workers, two of whom are locums, and 1 FTE was on long term sick leave at the end 
of September.  Both locums are leaving at the end of November and being replaced 
by a permanent staff member. We also have 0.4FTE dedicated to running our 
preparation groups. One assessment was being conducted by an independent social 
worker at the end of September - no more new assessments will be allocated to 
independent social workers as we are maximising the capacity of the family finding 
team.A report providing analysis of the child’s journey from April to September 2014 

Page 35



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

is provided separately. 

Page 36



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

 
Adopters’ enquiries  

Initial enquiries 
Between 1 April and 30 September 2014, the Adoption Service received 322 new 
enquiries from prospective applicants, including 8 from foster carers, 5 from 
repeat adopters and one from a relative wishing to adopt. This is 27.8% higher than 
in the same period in 2013/14 (252), though enquiries from repeat adopters and 
foster carers have only been counted since July 2013, when the new two-stage 
process was introduced. Figure 1 shows the number of enquiries received each 
month for the last four financial years. 

Figure 1 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of initial adoption enquiries received each month

2011/12 (n=525) 2012/13 (n=416) 2013/14 (n=578) 2014/15 (n=322)
 

The highest number of enquiries came from Canterbury (42), Maidstone (35) and 
Tonbridge (33). 5.0% (16) came from outside of Kent’s borders - 7 from Medway, 3 
from Bromley, 1 from Croydon, 3 from East Sussex, 1 from Hackney and 1 from 
Lewisham. 28 enquirers have not provided us with any address details yet – we get 
the addresses from everyone who attends an information event and the initial 
enquiry team will try and get address details when they are first contacted. If the 
enquiry is by email and the enquirer does not respond when we try to contact them 
back then we it is not possible to get their address details if they did not provide it in 

Page 37



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

their email enquiry. 

Figure 2 shows the distribution of these enquiries across the authority. 
Figure 2 

26

42

12

26
20

35

15
8

23 19

33

19
7 9

28

05
1015202530354045

Number of enquiries by district (2014/15)

n=322
 

188 (55.8%) of the 322 initial enquiries received have resulted in attendance at an 
information event as of 30 October 2014, and 83 (44.1%) attended within ten 
working days of their enquiry. Of the other 105, 21 failed to attend the information 
event they had originally booked on to, while 84 attended the first information event 
that was convenient for them. Reasons not attending an information event within 10 
days of making an enquiry included the location of the event (the location of the 
event is rotated between east, west and central Kent to try to accommodate the 
whole county); and timing (events are now held in the weekday evenings or Saturday 
mornings as these seem to be the most convenient times for enquirers). 

12 households did not need to attend an information event – 5 foster carer, 1 relative 
adopter and two repeat adopter households, along with 4 prospective first-time 
adopter households who had previously attended an information event, so it was 
decided they did not need to attend another one. 

For the other 134 households, 95 enquiries are now closed as they are not ready to 
proceed at the moment – reasons include families who are still having IVF treatment, 
family concerns or moving house. 23 households are expected to attend an event by 

Page 38



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

the end of November and we are in contact with another 4 households to book them 
on to the first event that is convenient for them. 

Formal enquiries 
Between 1 April and 30 September 2014 we received 192 formal enquiries. All 
households were provided with a ROI form within ten working days, as per National 
Minimum Standard (NMS) 10.4. Figure 3 shows the number of formal enquiries 
received each month.  
 
Figure 3 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of formal enquiries received each month

2013/14 (n=316) 2014/15 (n=192)
 

Initial visits 

We completed 118 initial visits between 1 April and 30 September 2014, with 103 
reports (87.3%) written up by the social worker within 3 working days, and 101 
(85.6%) signed off within 5 working days of the visit taking place. Of these: 

- Team 1 completed 75 visits and 64 reports were signed off in time (85.3%); 
- Team 2 completed 43 visits and 37 reports were signed off in time (86.0%). 

Performance is monitored each month at the performance surgery. 

Figure 4 shows the trend in the number of initial visits conducted each month since 

Page 39



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

last July. There had been a drop in the number of visits in the first four months of the 
year (average of 16.25 per month) but we have seen an increase in August (28 
visits) and September (25 visits). 
 
Figure 4 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of initial home visits conducted each month

2013/14 (n=161) 2014/15 (n=118)
 

ROIs (applications to Stage One) received from prospective adoptive households 

98 ROIs were submitted between 1 April and 30 September 2014, including 5 from 
foster carers, 1 from a relative and 5 from repeat adopters (one of whom had 
previously adopted via another authority). Figure 5 shows the trend in the number of 
ROIs submitted each month. 

Page 40



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

Figure 5 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of ROIs submitted each month

2013/14 (n=135) 2014/15 (n=98)
 

90 (91.8%) were decided upon within five working days, as per NMS 10.5. For the 8 
cases that were not decided upon within five working days, 5 were due to delay by 
the allocated social worker, one was due to the manager, one was due to more 
information being needed and one was due to investigations into a previous criminal 
conviction. 
 
89 of the 98 ROIs (90.8%) were accepted by the service, and 9 have been rejected: 
one due to health reasons, three due to unsuitable accommodation, one due to the 
previous criminal conviction, one where a birth child that was too young, two who 
needed to stop smoking and one where the couple were not living together when 
they submitted their ROI. We have since reviewed our decision-making, as while the 
guidance does not specify the use of such criteria, professional judgements need to 
be made. 
 
The highest number of ROI submissions came from Maidstone (13). Figure 6 shows 
where the applicants live, including 7 from outside Kent (2 from Medway, 1 from 
Bexley, 1 from Bromley, 1 from Hackney and 2 from Surrey). 

Page 41



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

Figure 6 

10
8

4

9

4

13

6
4

7 7
11

8

2
5

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14

Number of ROIs submitted by district (2014/15)

n=98
 

Applications in Stage One 

86 cases completed Stage One between 1 April and 30 September 2014 and all 
were invited to Stage Two. 38 of the 75 (44.2%) completed Stage One within two 
months, as per NMS 10.6. The average time taken to complete Stage One for these 
cases continues to fall. It was 80 days (compared with April to August - 88.2 days) – 
the national average for the fourth quarter of 2013/14 was 58 days1. The reasons for 
delays included additional information requested by the medical adviser, 
bereavement and delays with receiving references and applicants having their 
medicals. We urge applicants at information events and initial visits to book their 
medical as quickly as possible after they start Stage One and we are now tracking 
when those appointments are so that we can see if any particular GPs are delaying 
things. 

In addition, 12 households withdrew from Stage One during this period – 7 because 
they decided they were not ready to proceed, one due to medical concerns, two due 
to concerns about their support network, one as they had changed jobs and one due 
to concerns raised by an ex-partner reference. Figure 7 shows the number of cases 

                                              
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adoption-leadership-board-quarterly-data-reports 

Page 42



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

completing Stage One each month. 

Figure 7 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of Stage One completions each month

2013/14 (n=36) 2014/15 (n=86)
 

At the end of September we had 40 cases in Stage One, 2 of which had been in 
Stage One for more than two months already. For the 2 cases where there have 
been delays, the reasons were: 

- one case there have been delays due to the need for a mental health 
assessment. They have since started their Stage 2 assessment 

- in one case an applicant has a complicated medical history, so the medical 
adviser is seeking more detailed information before providing their advice 

Team managers track cases on a weekly basis and are now being proactive about 
addressing delays to ensure cases complete Stage One within the timescale set, 
including making calculated decisions if not all the checks and references have been 
completed. For example, a team manager met with health colleagues in June to look 
at how we ensure delays in getting advice from medical advisers are eliminated – we 
now exchange data with NHS colleagues each week to help us keep on top of any 
potential delays in receiving medical advice. In addition, social workers have been 
asked to provide a status update at the four-week point of Stage One, giving their 
manager a summary of any concerns identified so far and the actions they will be 
taking to ensure the application completes Stage One within the two-month 

Page 43



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

timescale. This has resulted in a marked improvement in performance since July 
(see Figure 8) 

Figure 8 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of cases completing Stage One within timescale 
each month

2013/14 (n=36) 2014/15 (n=86)
 

We have heard back from 85 households, with 11 delaying the start of their Stage 2 
assessment until after 30 September 2014. Reasons included holiday, renovating 
their home, studying and personal issues. 

Applications to Stage Two (for assessment) received 
We received 84 new applications to start Stage Two in the first six months of 
2014/15. This is 15.2% less than the number of applications received in the same 
period in 2013/14 (99). 5 of the applications received have been from repeat 
adopters (1 of whom had previously adopted via another authority), 1 from a relative 
and 5 from foster carers – these all skipped Stage One. The other 73 applicants took 
an average of 25.8 days to start Stage Two after completing Stage One. One case 
has been closed between Stage One and Stage Two as they have not responded to 
our invitation to Stage Two. Figure 9 shows the number of applications for home 
assessments we received in each month. 

Page 44



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

Figure 9 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of applications received each month for a home 
study assessment

2011/12 (n=76) 2012/13 (n=137) 2013/14 (n=153) 2014/15 (n=84)
 

Adopters’ background 
The 84 households consisted of 162 individuals: 78 couples, including 11 same-
sex couples, and 6 single applicants. 

The majority are White British (140, 86.4%), while a further 15 are White non-British. 
The proportion of White applicants is a similar to previous years. 4 applicants are 
Indian, one is classified as Black Other, one is of mixed ethnic origin and one is of an 
uncategorised ethnic background. None of the applicants are disabled. 

Figure 8 shows the distribution of where the applicants live, including 7 from outside 
Kent (2 from Bromley, 2 from Bexley, 1 from East Sussex, 1 from Southwark and 1 
from Surrey). 

Page 45



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

Figure 8 

10

5 6 6

2

11 10

4

8

5
3

7

0

7

0
2
4
6
8

10
12

Number of Stage Two applications by district (2014/15)

n=84
 

 

Applications being assessed 

We had 57 assessments underway at the end of September, 5 of which were being 
conducted under the old style process: 

- one case had been on hold for seven months as an applicant knew there 
would be a positive DBS check and did not want to start the assessment until 
we had reviewed it. The social worker has raised some concerns so has 
arranged a meeting in early November with their manager and the applicants 
to discuss. They are booked to go to panel in November; 

- one assessment, conducted by an independent social worker, was greatly 
delayed and was meant to be presented to panel in October 2013 but was 
delayed until March 2014 due to the need for more medical information. We 
are no longer using that social worker. We changed the assessing social 
worker and the applicants were linked with a child but unfortunately were not 
selected, which led to the applicants losing their motivation to complete the 
assessment. The assessment was then put on hold due to family issues and a 
manager met with them in September and they have since withdrawn; 

Page 46



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

- one case has been delayed by overseas and DBS checks, as well as 
concerns about an applicant’s weight. We had been told by the applicant that 
their DBS check would be positive but it eventually came back clear. The case 
went to panel in October; 

- one case was due to go to panel in December 2013 but this was postponed 
due to concerns raised by the medical adviser; a panel was then booked for 
March 2014, but again was postponed as the medical concerns had not been 
addressed; they finally went to panel in May 2014 but the decision was 
deferred by the ADM.  An independent social worker reviewed their case and 
a manager visited them on 19 September to discuss the next steps. The case 
is booked to go to panel in December; 

- one case had been on hold for two and half months so that an applicant could 
access counselling. The assessment then took longer due to the need to be 
confident that they could meet the needs of an adopted child. The case is 
booked to go to panel in November. 

No cases were on hold at the end of September: 

8 applications were withdrawn between 1 April and 30 September2014: 

- one due to work commitments 
- one needed to deal with health concerns of their young birth child 

- one due to a lack of support network; 

- one due to ill-health 

- four had a change of mind about adoption; 

Adopters approved  

The Agency Decision Maker approved 73 prospective adoptive households 
between April and September, one more than in the same period last year. This 

Page 47



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

included one approval for Fostering to Adopt. 60 were first-time adoptive 
households, 7 were repeat adopters (including the Fostering to Adopt applicants) 
and 6 were foster carer households. 63 were mixed-sex couples, 8 were same-sex 
couples and 2 were single adopters. 127 of the 144 individuals were White British, 8 
were of other White background, 2 were Black African, 1 was Pakistani, 1 was 
Indian, 3 was of mixed ethnicity and the other 2 were of a non-categorised ethnicity. 
Figure 10 shows the trend of approvals over the past 4 financial years. 

Figure 10 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of households approved each month by the ADM

2011/12 (n=67) 2012/13 (n=87) 2013/14 (n=167) 2014/15 (n=73)
 

One household was rejected by the ADM, due to emerging concerns about an 
applicant’s alcohol consumption. 

In addition, four households have been de-registered – one due to a change of 
circumstances in their family life meaning they were no longer looking to adopt, one 
as they were moving north, one who had fallen pregnant, and one who had a 
placement disrupted and did not want to try to adopt another child. 

Compliance with the National Minimum Standards for Adoption 
Post-1st July 2013 applications 
57 households were approved under the new process. Under the NMS 10.6, ADM 
decisions should be made within four months of the application being accepted. 44 
assessments (77.2%) met this timescale. 11 exceeded the timescale by less than 

Page 48



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

two months – one of the assessments was put on hold for six weeks and then 
completed within 4 months, one needed further investigation into financial issues 
identified during the assessment, one needed further investigation into a 
safeguarding issue that was raised during the assessment, one assessment had to 
be reallocated due to the original social worker going on sick leave, four were due to 
delays by the assessing social workers; two were due to delay in allocating the case; 
one was due to a panel admin error, where the case was not booked on to the 
correct panel. One was a repeat adopter who took 9 months due to concerns the 
medical adviser had about the applicant’s health that had to be dealt with during the 
assessment as they had skipped Stage One; another assessment took 8 months 
after it was determined during the assessment that an applicant needed counselling. 
 
The average time taken to complete these 57 assessments was 118.9 days. The 
national average, for adopters approved, at the end of March 2014 was 113 days1. 
 
7 of the cases being actively assessed under the new style process at the end of 
September had started Stage Two before June and so will exceed the four-month 
timescale when the ADM makes their decision: 

- one involves foster carers looking to adopt a child placed with them but they 
are seeking legal advice as they do not agree with the financial level of 
support being offered by the Council. The assessment is going to panel in 
October; 

- one went to panel in September but the decision was deferred as further 
information was needed about their previous adoption via a different agency. 
The case is going back to the ADM in October; 

- for one case panel was delayed as a second opinion visit was needed. The 
application has since been rejected in October after new information came to 
light; 

- one case was presented to panel within time but the decision was deferred as 

Page 49



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

more work needed to be done with applicants. They have since been 
approved; 

- one case was delayed as the applicants started a new job and got married at 
the start of their assessment; 

- one case is due to a delay in allocating it to a social worker by managers;  

- one case has been delayed as a result of late emerging concerns raised by 
an ex-partner reference. 

 
Team 1 completed 28 of 35 assessments (80%) within timescale. 
Team 2 completed 16 of 22 assessments (73%) within timescale. 
 
Pre-1st July 2013 applications 
17 of the 74 households decided upon by the ADM were assessed under the old 
process. 3 of the 17 (17.6%) met the NMS requirement of being presented to 
Adoption panel within 8 months of applying. A further two cases would have met the 
timescale if we took into account the time an assessment was on hold for at the 
request of the applicants. 8 took between 8 and 12 months, including one that was 
on hold for over 4 months; and 6 took longer than 12 months, including three 
assessments that had been put on hold, one for 10 months, one for 9 months, and 
one for 3 months. Reasons for delays include investigations into a positive DBS 
check, the social worker losing the PAR due to a technical error and having to re-
write it, health concerns and redundancy. 

Kent-approved Adopters matched with looked after children  
65 Kent-approved households were approved for a match with 74 children in the first 
six months of the year, including 6 foster carer households. The non-foster carer 
households were matched on average 119.7 days (within 4 months) after they were 
approved to be adopters. The national average for new matches in the fourth quarter 
of 2013/14 was 124 days1. 27(45.7%) were matched within 3 months of being 
approved; a further 22 (37.3%) were matched within 6 months of being approved, 

Page 50



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

with 10 matched more than 6 months after being approved. 

Children from other local authorities placed with Kent-approved adopters 
6 of the 65 households have had a child placed for adoption where the child was 
from another local authority (Barking & Dagenham, Bradford, East Sussex, Haringey, 
Medway and Westminster). The inter agency fee for two of these matches was 
£27,000 (one was a single child from a consortium partner); for three it was £29,700 
(single child from a London authority); and the other match was also £27,000 (a 
sibling group of two children from a consortium partner). 
 
Approved Adopters who have not yet adopted a child 

At the end of September we had 67 approved households where a child had not yet 
been placed for adoption, including 3 who had been matched with a child. A further 8 
have since been approved for a match with a child and 8 more households are now 
selected for a match with a child and booked to go to panel in October. 7 households 
are exploring possible links with a child. There is also one household matched with a 
child but there have been delays in the court granting a placement order, so a panel 
is not yet booked. One is on hold due to family illness. 

Of the remaining 39 households, 22 had been approved for less than three months, 
6 for between 3 to 6 months, and 8 for more than 6 months. For the 11 who had 
been waiting more than 6 months: 

- one has not been selected for two children they were shortlisted for, and for 
one child they were shortlisted but then chose not to proceed. They have 
asked not to be referred to the National Adoption Register as they would like 
to adopt a child from Kent; 

- one has been referred to the National Adoption Register, and they have 
expressed an interest in a child currently on the register from another local 
authority that the social worker is following up on; 

- one had been linked with a child but were not selected. They do not wish to 

Page 51



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

be referred to the National Adoption Register yet; 
- one has expressed an interest a few children and were not selected for a child 

that they had been shortlisted for. They have been referred to the National 
Adoption Register; 

- one has been referred to the National Adoption Register having been linked 
with a number of children in Kent but not progressing their interest. The team 
managers met with them to review their expectations in July and the search 
continues; 

- one had been on hold from matching due to a bereavement and were linked 
to  a child but were not selected. They have been referred to the National 
Adoption Register; 

- one had been linked with a couple of pairs of siblings but were not selected 
for either, and have since expressed interested in a child from Wales. A 
manager met with them in September to discuss how to move forward and 
they will continue to consider children. They have been referred to the 
National Adoption Register; 

- one moved away from Kent due to work but has since been made redundant. 
We are looking at the best way to support them in finding a child to adopt; 

- one has been shown all the profiles of the children waiting but have only 
expressed in one child, who they were not selected for. They have said that 
they do not want to be referred to the National Adoption Register; 

- one was shortlisted for a relinquished baby but not selected. They have been 
referred to the National Adoption Register and registered on Adoption Link; 

- one was shortlisted for a child but not selected and we intend to refer to the 
National Adoption Register and Adoption Link 

We track the approved and waiting adopters on a weekly basis, and will be holding 

Page 52



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

linking meetings every fortnight to review the adopters and children waiting. 
Managers also maintain a folder with profiles of each adopter so that these can be 
quickly shared with the social workers of any potential links. Managers are also in 
the process of creating profiles that can be circulated nationally. 

There have been issues with referring families to the consortium, and consortium 
managers met in September and decided that families would no longer be referred to 
consortium members via the website. It was agreed that co-operation among the 
members needs to be more focused and the next managers’ meeting will review this. 

Non-agency and inter-country 

In the first six months of the year we received 70 enquiries and 32 Notifications of 
Interest. The service currently has 77 families waiting (with 94 children) and 33 
active cases. In addition, there have been 19 Adoption Orders granted and CRT 
reports filed for 9 children. 

Sufficiency Strategy 

As set out in the accompanying report on the Children’s Journey, over the past year 
we have seen a 61.2% fall in the number of children for whom a placement order is 
granted, so a significant review of the sufficiency strategy has been needed. 
Nationally there has been a year-on-year fall of 49% in the number of placement 
orders granted, so the decrease seen in Kent is significantly higher than the national 
average. This national fall has led to a large number of local authorities having a 
surplus of approved adopters, making it less likely for Kent-approved households to 
be matched with a child from outside Kent. We are creating more professional 
looking profiles and encouraging adopters to register on Adoption Link as well as the 
National Adoption Register to increase the chances of the being considered for 
children from other authorities. Our priority is to keep our approved and waiting 
adopters engaged through seminars, national events, etc. 

At the end of October there were 10 children we were active family finding for, all of 
whom are single children (the rest are either matched, linked or expected to have a 

Page 53



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to September 2014 
  

 

change of plan). 

There are a further 24 children with a best interest decision for adoption where the 
placement order has not yet been granted, including one sibling group of two, and 
another 19 who are currently due to be considered by the ADM by the end of 
December 2014, including three sibling groups of two. 

Based on this, it is estimated that in the short term we would need to approve an 
average of 5 households per month in order to find a suitable adoptive placement for 
children with a plan for adoption. This equates to 6 applications per month and 20 
enquiries per month. 

We estimate that between October 2014 and March 2015 we will approve a further 
85 households, so we will have 124 households (39 adopters not currently linked 
plus the additional 85 households we expect to be approved) looking for children to 
adopt in that same timeframe. Coram and Kent have been discussing various 
options regarding to recruitment of adopters and a decision will have been made by 
the time of the Panel. 

We will continue to monitor the situation and adjust the strategy as appropriate. 
Coram is also funding a small research project to determine the cause of the drop in 
the number of placement orders, working with the council’s legal team. One outcome 
from that project will be a view on whether there are children for whom the council 
will eventually be granted a placement order, i.e. is there a bottleneck in proceedings 
that will lead to children being older when the placement order is granted, meaning 
they will be harder to place. 

Page 54



 
 
 

 

 
Corporate Parenting Panel 
9 December 2014 
Annual Report: Children’s adoption journey  
April – September 2014 
Kent County Council and Coram partnership 

 

 

Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service, Coram 
Kevin Yong, Senior Data Analyst, Coram 
 

Page 55



Contents 
Contents..................................................................................................................... 2 

Summary Statistics..................................................................................................... 3 

1 Introduction ......................................................................................................... 5 

2 Timescale analysis.............................................................................................. 6 

3 Children adopted............................................................................................... 11 

4 Children currently placed for adoption, not yet adopted.................................... 13 

5 Children placed for adoption ............................................................................. 14 

6 Matches ............................................................................................................ 17 

7 Placement Orders ............................................................................................. 17 

8 Children waiting for adoptive placements.......................................................... 20 

9 Children with a plan that has changed .............................................................. 24 

10 Children in care proceedings with an Agency Decision for adoption .............. 24 

11 Children who had an Agency Decision for adoption ....................................... 24 

12 Conclusion...................................................................................................... 26 

 

Page 56



Summary Statistics 

• Between 1 April and 30 September 2014 104 children were adopted, 31.6% 
more adoptions than in the same period in 2013/14 (79 children). 

• On 30 September 2014, 98 children were placed for adoption but not yet 
adopted. 

• Between 1 April and 30 September 2014 84 children were placed with an 
adoptive family, 15.1% more children than in the same period in 2013/14 (73 
children). 

• 7 children were placed with adopters from other local authorities, including 1 child 
with a consortium adopter; and 3 were placed with voluntary adoption agency 
adopters. A further 10 children were placed with foster carers and 5 with repeat 
adopters. 

• Between 1 April and 30 September 2014 the Agency Decision Maker agreed 
matches for 82 children. 9.3% higher than in the same period in 2013/14 (75 
children) 

• Between 1 April and 30 September 2014 40 children were granted a 
Placement Order, a 61.2% decrease on the number of Placement Orders 
granted in the same period in 2013/14 (103  children). 

• On 30 September 2014, 56 children were waiting to be placed with an 
adoptive family. This includes children who were matched or ‘linked’ with a 
family, as well as those for whom active family finding was being pursued and for 
whom plans were due to change. 

• 13 of the 56 children have since been placed with an adoptive family; a further 6 
have had matches approved by the ADM and 15 are matched with a family, 
including 5 with their foster carer and 1 with a relative. 

• Another 7 children are linked with potential families and we are visiting to 
determine which family to match. 

• We are actively family finding for 15 of the 56 (26.8%) children waiting at the end 
of September. 12 are boys, 13 are White and there are three sibling groups of 2 
children. All 15 children either have a disability, developmental delay or health 
issue. 

Page 57



• 4 of the 15 were granted a Placement Order within the last 4 months; 9 have 
been waiting under a year and three between one to two years. 

• An Adoption Activity Day was held on 29 September 2014, with 19 children 
featured. 14 children had an expression of interest raised from the day and 8 
have since been matched as a result, including 3 sibling groups of 2 children. 

• Between 1 April and 30 September 2014, 14 children’s plans were changed 
from adoption, 2 to permanent foster care, 6 have returned to birth family, 3 to 
SGO and 3 under supervision orders. 

• Between 1 April and 30 September 2014 the Agency Decision Maker agreed 
the plan for adoption for 41 children, 63.1% lower than in the same period last 
year (111). 

• On 30 September 2014, 17 children were in care proceedings with an agency 
decision for adoption but no Placement Order.  

 

Page 58



1 Introduction 
This is a 6-monthly report that sets out a detailed analysis of the performance of the 
Council in relation to children’s adoption journeys between 1 April and 30 September 
2014. A report summarising the Council’s performance in relation to the adopters’ 
journey is attached separately. 

This report contains performance data and achievements, with the data used in this 
report sourced from information provided by the Management Information Unit (MIU), 
the Legal Team, Panel Team and from tracking meetings and performance 
surgeries. Only some of the data has been validated by MIU due to the deployment 
of the new ICS (Liberi). 

This report contains the following information on the children: 

• Timescale analysis  
• Children adopted from 1 April 2011 to 30 September 2014 (validated) 
• Children currently placed for adoption, who are not yet adopted 
• Children placed for adoption from 1 April 2011 to 30 September 2014 

(validated) 
• Children Matched with a family 
• Placement Orders granted from 1 April 2011 to 30 September 2014 

(validated) 
• Children waiting at the end of September 2014: timescales, ethnicity, sibling 

status, age profile, developmental and health needs 
• Children with a plan that has changed between 1 April to 30 September 2014 
• Children in court proceedings with a Plan for Adoption 

Page 59



 
2 Timescale analysis 
2.1 Time from entering care (BLA) to Agency Decision for adoption plan (ADM BI)  
The Agency Decision Maker should consider the adoption plan within two months of 
the statutory review when a plan of adoption is agreed, which in turn should be 
agreed at the second (4-month) review after a child is taken into care. These are 
both the responsibility of MIU to track and report on. This effectively means that ADM 
BI decisions should be made within 6 months of a child entering care. 
For the best interest decisions made this year, 68.3% were made within six months 
of the child being taken into care, compared with 58.7% in 2013/14 and 20.5% in 
2012/13, so the authority’s performance is improving but needs to improve further. 
Figure 1 shows the average time taken by district for decisions made in the first six 
months of this year 
Figure 1 

4.1
3.4 4.0

3.2

5.1 5.0

2.5
3.2

6.3 6.5 6.6

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Average months from BLA to ADM BI by district

Less than 6 months More than 6 months
 

This year is the first year that the average time from entering care to the Agency 
Decision is less than six months but given the fall in the number of decisions being 
made we have concerns that there are a significant number of children for whom the 
decision is being delayed. In 2012/13 it took an average of 11.7 months for the ADM 
BI decision to be made; this fell to 6.4 months in 2013/14 and 5.3 months so far this 
year. 

Page 60



2.2 Time from becoming looked after (BLA) to Placement Order (PO) 
As part of the Family Justice Review, care proceedings should take no more than 26 
weeks (6 months) to be completed in the courts. While this timescale does not apply 
to placement orders, we use this threshold as it is in the best interests of the child to 
get the placement order as quickly as possible where the care plan is for adoption. 
This timescale has been met for 42.5% (17) of the POs granted in the first six 
months of this year, compared with 30.5% in 2013/14 and 7.9% in 2012/13. Again 
performance is improving but needs to improve further – children granted a PO so 
far this year waited an average of 8 months after entering care compared with 10 
months in 2013/14 and 14 months in 2012/13. 
Performance varies between the districts – Figure 2 shows the average time taken 
by district for POs granted in the first six months of this year. 
Figure 2 

5.3 3.8 5.7
12.4

7.9 9.0 6.8 7.4 7.7 8.6 8.5

20.3

0
5

10
15
20
25

Average months from BLA to PO by district

Less than 6 months More than 6 months
 

2.3 Time from BLA to moving in with an adoptive family (Adoption scorecard 
indicator A1)  

The DfE Adoption Scorecard looks at performance in relation to children adopted 
over a three-year period, with thresholds set by the Department that are decreasing 
each year. Table 1 below shows the thresholds, Kent’s performance and comparison 
with statistical neighbours and England where the data is available. 2011-14 
Scorecards are expected to be published by the Department for Education in the 
next few months. 

Page 61



Table 1: 
2009 - 2012 2010 – 2013 2011 – 2014 2012 – 2015 2013 - 2016

Threshold 726 days 608 days 547 days 486 days 426 days
Kent 683 day 703 days 682 days (estimated) 628 days (forecast) n/a
Stat neighbours 651 days 647 days n/a n/a n/a
England 636 days 647 days n/a n/a n/a  
This shows that the authority’s performance is improving but still exceeding the 
thresholds set. This is largely due to the fact that 34% of the children placed in 
2012/13 and 2013/14 had been in care since before 2011/12, and a further 36% had 
been taken into care in 2011/12. Performance by financial year has improved from 
718 days (23.6 months) in 2012/13 to 650 days (21.4 months) in 2013/14 and 533.1 
days (17.5 months) in the first six months of this year. 
The time taken historically to grant placement orders also directly impacts on 
performance against this measure – for example children adopted in 2011-2014 
waited an average of 453 days (15 months) between entering care and their 
placement order being granted. The improvements mentioned in 2.2 will not impact 
on performance until next year. This means that it is all but impossible for us to meet 
the threshold set for three financial years from 2013-2016 so we have set a target of 
meeting the 426-day (14-month) threshold for adoption orders granted in the 
financial year 2015/16. 
Figure 3 shows the performance this year of the districts against this measure – no 
district has met the 14-month timescale, though Dover is close at 14.7 months. 

Page 62



Figure 3 

21.2 21.0 22.0

15.7 14.7
17.3 17.6

22.0
18.2

22.6 21.1 20.3 22.0

0
5

10
15
20
25

Average months from BLA to placement by district this year

Less than 14 months More than 14 months
 

2.4 Time from ADM BI to presentation to panel of a match with an adoptive family 
The panel should consider a match with an adoptive family within six months of the 
best interest decision being made. In the first six months of this financial year 35% of 
matches presented to panel met this timescale, compared with 35.3% in 2013/14 
and 37.1% in 2012/13, so performance has remained stable over the past three 
years. Meeting this timescale is dependent on the prompt granting of placement 
orders and meeting the timescale set out in 2.5, which looks at the timeliness in 
matching a child with a prospective adopter once a placement order is granted. 
2.5 Time from PO to approval by ADM of a match with an adoptive family (Adoption 

Scorecard indicator A2) 
As with 2.3, the DfE Adoption Scorecard looks at performance in relation to children 
adopted over a three-year period, with thresholds set by the Department that are 
decreasing each year. Table 2 below shows the thresholds, Kent’s performance and 
comparison with statistical neighbours and England where the data is available. 
2011-14 Scorecards are expected to be published by the Department for Education 
in the next few months. 

Page 63



Table 2: 
2009 - 2012 2010 – 2013 2011 – 2014 2012 – 2015 2013 - 2016

Threshold none 182 days 151 days 122 days 122 days
Kent 176 day 210 days 230 days (estimated) 225 days (forecast) n/a
Stat neighbours 192 days 205 days n/a n/a n/a
England 195 days 210 days n/a n/a n/a  
Again the performance is affected by the large number of children who were not 
placed with adoptive families before 2012/13, which also means that we will not be 
able to meet the threshold set for 2013-2016. Figure 4 shows the performance of 
each district this year against this measure. 
Figure 4 

3.7
2.1

3.7
1.8

9.9
8.4

5.4
7.0 7.4

10.5

7.8 7.9

5.2

0
2
4
6
8

10
12

Average months from PO to match this year by district

Less than 4 months More than 4 months
 

Our annual performance against this measure has been improving, from 243 days (8 
months) in 2012/13 to 224 days (7.4 months) to 205 days (6.7 months). Our aim is to 
meet the 122-day (4-month) timescale in 2015/16 and we have set challenging 
internal timescales with this is mind: 

- A social worker should visit a family within ten working days of the family 
being shortlisted for as a potential match for a child – on average this is taking 
8.6 days, with 79% of visits conducted this year being made within ten 
working days and we are considering shortening it to five working days; 

Page 64



- The matching meeting (where a family is selected to be presented to panel) 
should take place within ten working days of the family being visited – this has 
been met for less than 10% of selections made this year with average time 
taken being 24 working days currently; 

- The match should be presented to panel within 15 working days of the 
matching meeting – this was met for 34% of matches presented to panel this 
year with the average time taken being 22 working days currently. 

The aim is to maximise the amount of time we have to find potential matches for 
children since this is the element we have least control over. We are employing a 
number of techniques to increase the chances of finding a match (e.g. Activity Days; 
regular internal Linking Meetings; registering on Adoption Link, Be My Parent as well 
as the National Adoption Register; coffee mornings and pop-up events for adopters).   
A Practice Development Group has been set up to review our process for family 
finding and early family finding (which is what we do when a child has a plan of 
adoption but a PO is not yet granted) and to review our performance against the 
above standards. The group will set challenging timescales in light of the 4-month 
time period from Placement Order to ADM approving the match. 
Kent’s Children’s Services have also contracted Newton Europe to review all its 
business processes to identify and eliminate any inefficiencies. The Adoption Service 
is participating in this project, and will utilise the resources provided by Newton 
Europe to help with the Practice Development Group’s work on improving the family 
finding process. 

3 Children adopted 
Between 1 April to 30 September 2014 104 children were adopted in Kent County 
Council, which is significantly higher (31.6 %) than the number of children adopted 
in the same period in 2013/14 (79 ). To provide some context, national data available 
shows that there was no real change between quarter 1 2013/14 (1240 children 
adopted) and quarter 1 2014/15 (1230 children adopted). In addition data published 
for 2013/14 shows that the 145 children adopted in 2013/14 was higher than any 
other local authority in England, so we anticipate that Kent will have the highest 
number of children adopted this year too. 

Page 65



Figure 5 shows the number of children adopted by month and Figure 6 for the 
number of children adopted by area. 

Figure 5 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of children adopted each month

2012/13 (n=105) 2013/14 (n=145) 2014/15 (n=104)
 

Figure 6 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

Number of AOs granted this year by district

Within 6 months of placement More than 6 months after placement
 

N=145 

The children not yet adopted are being tracked through a number of mechanisms – 
performance surgeries, joint tracking meetings and by reviewing officers. Monthly 
information is also sent to managers to alert them to children awaiting an Adoption 
Order. A timescales analysis indicates that the robust performance monitoring is 

Page 66



starting to impact on the overall timescales: of the 104 children adopted between 1 
April to 30 September 2014 60% were adopted within 6 months of the adoptive 
placement, compared to 37.2% in 2013/14, 30.4% in 2012/13 and 18.6% in 2011/12. 
Figure 7 shows the average time from placement to AO for AOs granted in the first 
six months of this financial year. 

Figure 7 

4.2

5.7

2.4

5.0

6.5
7.2

7.9
6.8

8.0 7.6
6.8 6.6

9.3

6.3

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Average months from Placement to AO by district

Less than 6 months More than 6 months  
Coram is projecting to achieve 153 Adoption Orders this year, which assumes that 
an order will be granted for all children placed before 30 June 2014. 

4 Children currently placed for adoption, not yet adopted 
On 30 September 2014, 98 children were placed with an adoptive family but not 
yet adopted. 77 of these children had been in placement for less than 6 months. See 
Figure 8 for number of children currently placed for adoption, by area. 

Page 67



Figure 8 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14

Number of children placed not yet adopted by district

More than 6 months since placement (21)
Less than 6 months since placement (77)  

N=98 

31 (31.6%) had been waiting 1 month or less since placement, 28 (28.6%) had been 
waiting 2-4 months, 18 (18.4%) had been waiting for 4-6 months, 20 (20.4%) were 
waiting 6-12 months. One child had been placed for more than one year. 

There have, however been considerable delays in the Court system and this has 
affected timescales. Our analysis indicates that it is taking an average of three 
months for an adoption order to be granted after an application is submitted, for both 
Canterbury and Medway courts. The longest case this year took 297 days, with the 
case ending up in the High Court. The shortest took 32 days. There are currently 7 
cases where the AO has not yet been granted and the application was submitted 
over three months ago. We are continuing to work with colleagues in the Judiciary to 
overcome the barriers, but we have seen an increase in the number of contested 
applications from birth parents. 

5 Children placed for adoption 
Between 1 April to 30 September 2014 84 children were placed with an adoptive 
family, 15.1% more children than in 2013/14 when 73 children were placed in the 
equivalent period. This compares well with the national picture, where there has 
been a 10% fall in placements from quarter 1 2013/14 (1340) to quarter 1 2014/15 

Page 68



(1210). In addition, data published shows that Kent placed more children for 
adoption in 2013/14 than any other local authority in England, so based on this we 
anticipate placing the highest number of children in 2014/15 too. 

Figure 9 for number of children placed for adoption by month and Figure 10 for the 
number of children placed for adoption by district.  

Figure 9 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of children placed each month

2012/13 (n=143) 2013/14 (n=170) 2014/15 (n=84)
 

Figure 10 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16

Number of placements this year by district

Less 5 months after PO More than 5 months after PO
 

N=84 

Page 69



30 of the 84 children placed for adoption between 1 April to 30 September 2014 
were one and under when placed; 38 were aged between 2 and 4; and 16 were 
aged 5 or over, see Figure 11.  

Figure 11 

30

38

16

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

One and under Two-four Five and over

Number of children by age at placement this year

 
N=84 

Of the 84 placements between 1 April to 30 September 2014 

• 74 were placed with Kent approved adopters, of whom 11 were with Kent 
foster carers (none with independent foster carers); 

• 1 was  placed with consortium adopters (Medway),  
• 6 with other local authority adopters (Hounslow – 1, Islington – 2, West 

Sussex - 1, Warwickshire - 2).  
• 3 with voluntary agency adopters (PACT – 2, Action for Children - 1) 
• 5 were placed with repeat adopters. 3 of these children were placed with 

second time adopters and 2 were placed with third time adopters. 
• 51 children were placed on their own and 33 children were placed with 

siblings – 27 children in sibling groups of two (one child was placed with a 
sibling who was placed in 2013/14) and 6 children in 2  sibling groups of 3  

Page 70



6 Matches 
Between 1 April to 30 September 2014, 82 children were matched with an adoptive 
family, including 25 in a sibling group of 2 and 2 sets of 3 siblings. This is 9.3% 
higher than in the same period last year (75). Figure 12 shows the number of 
children matched each month. 

Figure 12 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of children matched each month

2012/13 (n=134) 2013/14 (n=172) 2014/15 (n=82)
 

6.1 Placement breakdowns 

No placements have broken down so far this year, however two siblings placed 
outside of Kent have moved in with a foster carer to provide respite care to the 
adopters 

7 Placement Orders 
Between 1 April and 30 September 2014, 40 Placement Orders were granted to 
children in Kent. This is 61.2% lower than in the same period in 2013/14 (103), a fall 
that mirrors the situation nationally – figures recently published by the Adoption 
Leadership Board show a 49% fall in placement orders from the first quarter of 
2014/15 (760) compared with the first quarter of 2013/14 (1500). Figure 13 shows 
the number of Placement Orders granted each month since 1 April 2012. Figure 14 
shows the number of children granted Placement Orders this year by area. 

Page 71



Figure 13 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of placement orders granted each month

2012/13 (n=190) 2013/14 (n=164) 2014/15 (n=40)
 

Figure 14 

01
23
45
6
78
9

Number of POs this year by district

PO granted after 2 months from ADM BI (15)
PO granted within 2 months of ADM BI (25)  

60% (24) of the children granted Placement Orders were one or under when they 
were granted a Placement Order a higher proportion than in previous years; 32.5% 
(13) were aged between 2 and; and 7.5% (3) were aged 5 or over. Figure 15 shows 
the change in the distribution of ages since 2012/13 while Figure 16 shows the 
numbers of children by their age when the PO was granted. 

Page 72



Figure 15 

50.5%

36.8%

12.6%

51.2%

37.2%

11.6%

60.0%

32.5%

7.5%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%

One and under Two-four Five and over

Proportion of children granted a PO by age

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15
 

 

Figure 16  

96

70

24

84

61

1924
13

3
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

One and under Two-four Five and over

Number of children granted a PO by age

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15
 

2011/12 N=124, 2012/13 N=190, 2013/14 N=164 

Of the 40 children granted a Placement Order between 1 April to 30 September 
2014, 92.5% were White (35 White British; 2 children from ‘other’ White 
backgrounds). The remaining 7.5% were of Black and Minority Ethnic backgrounds 
(non-white): all of these children were of mixed backgrounds (2 mixed White / Black 
Caribbean and 1 of mixed background unknown) 

Page 73



We estimate that 80 children will be granted a Placement Order in 2014/15.  

8 Children waiting for adoptive placements 
On 30 September 2014, 56 children in Kent County Council’s care were waiting 
to be placed with an adoptive family1. Children ‘waiting’ includes children who are 
going through the process of being matched or are ‘linked’ with a family. 

Of these 56 children, active family finding is still ongoing for 15 (26.8%), while 13 
have since been placed, 6 have had matches approved, 15 are matched (5 with 
foster carers, 1 with a relative), and 7 for whom there are links with prospective 
adopters. 

For the 15 children with active family finding: 

• 12 are boys, 3 are girls; 
• 13 are White, 2 of mixed ethnic background;  
• 6 are in 3 sibling groups of 2; 
• All have either a disability, developmental delay or health issue; 
• A pair of siblings are in therapeutic fostering for a year. 

This is similar to the picture nationally. Figure 17 shows the distribution of ages of 
these 15 children; Figure 18 shows the distribution by year of placement order. 

                                            
 
1 This figure includes children with a Placement Order and a Plan for Adoption, or parallel plan where 
one of the plans is adoption. The figure also includes relinquished children with an Agency Decision 
for Adoption. 

Page 74



Figure 17: Number of children with active family finding status by age 

1

7 7

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

1 or under 2 to 4 5 and over

Number of children waiting by current age

 

Figure 18: Number of children with active family finding by year of placement order 

1

10

4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Number of children waiting by year of placement order

 

3 of the 15 children have been waiting over a year since their placement order was 
granted, 8 for between 6 to 12 months, 1 for between 4 to 6 months and 3 for less 
than 4 months. Figure 19 shows the number of children with active family finding by 
district and who have been waiting less / more than 4 months. 

Page 75



Figure 19 

0

1

2

3

4

Number of children with active family finding by district and 
time since PO granted

Less than 4 months More than 4 months
 

9 of the 15 children have been waiting over a year since the best interest decision 
was made, 3 for between 6 to 12 months and 3 for less than 6 months. 

Of the 7 children ‘linked’: 

• 3 had been waiting between 6 and 12 months since their placement order was 
granted, for 1 the PO was granted more than two years before; 

• All had been waiting more than 6 months since the ADM BI decision was 
made and for 1 the decision was made more than two years before; 

• 5 were male and 2 female; 
• 6 were White British, and 1 was of ‘other’ mixed background; 
• 2 were in a sibling group of two with a plan to be placed together;  
• 4 were aged two-four, 3 were aged 5 and over; 
• 5 had confirmed disability, developmental or health needs. 

8.1 Adoption activity day 

Adoption Activity Days are child-themed events where approved adopters and 
adopters in the assessment process who have an identified panel date have the 
opportunity to directly meet a range of children waiting to be adopted in a prepared, 
supported, safe and fun environment. It is an innovative method of family finding with 

Page 76



an opportunity for families to respond directly to children and make a personal 
connection with them. 

Kent held its second Adoption Activity Day (AAD) on 29 September 2014. 19 
children and 27 prospective adoptive families attended, including 5 from other 
agencies. 14 children (73.7%) had an expression of interest raised on the day (9 
girls, 5 boys; 4 sibling groups of 2 children) and 8 (42.1%) have now been matched 
as a result, including 3 sibling groups of 2 children. This considerably exceeds the 
average number of matches made the first five pilot Adoption Activity Days (19%). 

Of the children matched as a result of the AAD: 

• There is a sibling group made up of 2 White British girls aged 5 and 2, with 
one child having an unconfirmed health issue. Their POs were granted in 
June 2013; 

• 1 is a single White British boy aged 3 with confirmed developmental delay and 
health issues whose PO was granted in November 2011; 

• One sibling group is made up of two White British girls aged 8 and 6 whose 
POs were granted in November 2013; 

• 1 child is a White and Black Carribean boy aged 4 whose PO was granted in 
April 2014 

• One sibling group is made of two White British twin boys, both with 
attachment difficulties, who are aged 5. Their foster carers are being 
assessed after they realised at the AAD that they did not want the boys to live 
with anyone else. 

8.2 Early Family Finding 

Due to the decrease in the number of placement orders we are now taking the 
opportunity to do more early family finding for children who are expected to be 
granted a placement order. There are limits to what we can do legally in terms of 
family finding, but our work is aimed at securing a match as soon as possible after 
the placement order is granted. This could mean visiting prospective adopters as 
soon as the placement order is granted or, in some cases, beforehand. 

Page 77



As of 7 November we have 51 children that we are early family finding for, 26 of 
whom have an Agency Decision for adoption but no placement order yet. One child 
is not yet born and is part of a sibling group of two. 30 of the children are boys, 20 
are girls; 31 are single children with 24 aged 1 or under, 6 aged 2 to 4 and 1 aged 5 
and over; there are 7 sibling groups of 2 children and 2 sibling groups of 3. 12 are 
due to have a final hearing before the end of December. 

9 Children with a plan that has changed 
Between 1 April 2013 to 30 September 2014, 14 children’s plans were changed, 2 to 
permanent foster care, 6 have returned to birth family, 3 to SGO and 3 under 
supervision orders. 

10 Children in care proceedings with an Agency Decision for 
adoption 

18 children were in the Court process on 30 September 2014, where the Agency 
Decision Maker had agreed a plan for adoption but a Placement Order had not yet 
been granted.  

8 had been waiting less than two months since the ADM best interest decision, 7 
children had been waiting 2 to 4 months, and 1 for between 4 to 6 months and 2 for 
more than 6 months. 

Of the 3 children waiting 4 months and over: 
• One child has a Final Hearing due on 17 November 2014, almost 8 months 

after the best interest decision was made.  
• One child has a Final Hearing due on 7 November 2014, 5 months after the 

best interest decision. 
• For one child the plan has since changed from adoption to rehabilitation with 

birth father. The plan changed 7 months after the best interest decision 

11 Children who had an Agency Decision for adoption 
41 children had an Agency Decision for adoption plan agreed between 1 April 
2014 and 30th September 2014. This is 63.1% lower than in the same period in 

Page 78



2013/14 (111). Nationally there has been a fall of 46.4% between the first quarter of 
2013/14 and the first quarter of 2014/15. 

Figure 20 shows the number of adoption plans approved each month 

Figure 20 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of adoption plans approved by ADM each month

2012/13 (n=210) 2013/14 (n=179) 2014/15 (n=41)
 

Figure 21 shows the split of ADM decisions for adoption by district. 

Figure 21 

01
23
45
67
89

1011

Number of adoptions plan approved by ADM this year by 
district

ADM BI made after 6 months from BLA (13)
ADM BI made within 6 months of BLA (28)  

N=41 

Page 79



Of the 41 children with an Agency Decision for adoption plan agreed: 

• 37 (90.2%) were white (36 White British, 1 White Other) and 4 (9.8%) were of 
Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) backgrounds (2 Mixed White and Black 
Caribbean, 1 of ‘Other’ mixed background and 1 of an uncategorised 
ethnicity); 

• 12 children were in a sibling group of two; 
• 31 were aged one and under, 9 were aged two to four, and 1 was aged five 

and over. 

12 Conclusion 
One of the keys changes due to a legal judgement in September 2013, has been the 
decrease in children being granted legal authority to place for adoption. As stated in 
section 7, nationally there has been a 49% fall in placement orders from the first 
quarter of 2014/15 (760) compared with the first quarter of 2013/14 (1500). Coram 
and Kent will be undertaking a study to understand the reasons for the considerable 
decrease in Kent in particular. 

 

Our priority continues to be further improving timescales prior to the Placement 
Order being granted, and also to match children within 4 months of the Placement 
Order.  The work undertaken by Newton Europe and the Practice Development 
Group will be focusing on the improvements required. 

Page 80



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel 
9 December 2014 
Kent Adoption Panel Chairs’ Report 
April – September 2014 
Kent County Council and Coram Partnership 

 

Page 81



 
 

 

1. Introduction  
The National Minimum Standards for Adoption require that “Adoption Panels provide 
a quality assurance feedback to the agency every 6 months on the quality of reports 
being presented to Panel” (Adoption National Minimum Standards 2014, Standard 
17.2, page 50). This includes comments on whether there is a thorough, rigorous, 
consistent and fair approach across the adoption service on the suitability of 
prospective adopters and any proposed placement of children. The role of the panel 
is part of the overall quality assurance system for the Adoption Agency. 
The Panel Advisers have worked with the four panel chairs to provide this update 
report for the period 1st April to September 30th as this is the first overview report that 
has been provided since their appointment in March 2014. As this report represents 
all four Panels it covers the themes that have been identified as common to all. The 
Chairs, Panel Advisers and Agency Decision Makers respond to issues as they arise 
in individual Panels. 

2. Role and Function of Adoption Panel 
Panel’s function is to:  

• make recommendations to the Agency’s Decision Makers, who make the 
decisions on whether a prospective adopter is suitable to adopt a child and 
whether a child or sibling group should be placed for adoption with a particular 
prospective adopter; 

• recommend the termination of previously approved adopters as required; 
• Note the “de-match” of a child or sibling group where the placement has not 

gone ahead. 
Recent legislation and revised guidance has now removed from Panel the 
responsibility for considering a child’s adoption plan, which is now considered 
directly by the Agency Decision Makers, save for those children relinquished 
(Adoption Statutory Guidance 2013, para 1.19). Another significant change is that 
Panels no longer have a fixed membership; instead adoption agencies have to 
establish a central list from which suitable people are chosen for each Panel.  
Four adoption Panels, one each for East, South, West and North, have been 
established to allow a Panel to take place each week. When necessary additional 
Panels are convened, drawing people from the central list as appropriate. 

Page 82



 
 

The role of Agency Decision Maker is allocated to each of the Assistant Area 
Directors, and their support is positive and timely. In order to maintain quality and 
consistency across the service, regular meetings between the Chairs and Decision 
Makers have been established with the most recent being on 6th May 2014 and a 
subsequent meeting is being arranged for the 28th of November 2014. 

3. Membership of Panels 
Following a successful recruitment process earlier in year the three Permanent 
Chairs and one Interim Chair have been appointed.  
The Agency has undertaken a review of Panel membership in order to both refresh 
membership generally and to ensure that Panel better reflects Kent’s increasingly 
diverse population. 
The Panel Advisers have taken a very active approach to the recruitment of under 
representative groups on the Panel. For example, they have worked with Catch 22 
who support care leavers, Virtual School Kent who support looked after children in 
education and Adoption social workers have been consulted regarding current 
adopters who could potentially join the Panels 
This will mean that as the new Panel members are successfully inducted onto Panel 
more established Panel members may stand down. It is recognised that all current 
Panel members have made an invaluable contribution to the work of the Adoption 
Agency. 
All Panels now have Vice Chairs who are experienced social work managers within 
KCC and take on the Chairing role when required as well as providing an up to date 
picture of the wider social work service in Kent. 

4. Quality Assurance 
The Quality Assurance system for the Adoption Agency involves a number of levels 
to ensure that processes and decision making meet the highest standards that are 
set out in the National Minimum Standards and are underpinned by Statutory 
Guidance as set out below: 

1. The Team Manager for the child is responsible for ensuring the quality of the 
Child’s Permanence Report (CPR) and counter signing the final report. 
 

2. The Adoption Team Manager is responsible for checking that the Prospective 
Adopter Report (PAR) is accurate, up-to-date, evidenced-based and is 
counter signed before it is submitted for Panel. 
 

Page 83



 
 

3. The Agency Adviser should maintain an overview of the quality of the 
agency’s reports to both panel and the Agency Decision Maker (ADM) and 
liaise with the team mangers to quality assure the CPR and PAR and the 
Adoption Placement Report. Where there are concerns about a report the 
agency adviser and the panel chair should consider if it is adequate for 
submission to the ADM. 
 

4. The Panel Chair ensures that the minutes of panel meetings are accurate and 
clearly cover the key issues and views expressed by the panel members and 
record the reasons for recommendations. 
 

5. The Agency Decision Maker makes considered decisions that take account of 
all the information available to them including the recommendation of the 
adoption panel and the final set of minutes. 

Panel Advisers meet with the Decision Makers after each Panel, and a revised 
format for capturing feedback from Chairs and Agency Decision Makers has been 
developed, the detail of which is collated and the findings used to highlight good 
practice and areas for improvement.  
A system for collating feedback from prospective adopters who attend panel is now 
also in place, which includes follow up phone calls when necessary. A review of the 
data collected to date demonstrates an overall positive picture with 88% of 
applicants describing their experience as excellent and 97% of them saying they felt 
entirely prepared for panel. 
Panels now systematically record whether or not timescales have been met in 
relation to both the child’s and the adopter’s journey as well as identifying reasons 
why any delay has occurred.  

5. Panel’s Workload summary of Panel Activity April- September 
2014 
The workload of the individual Panels is set out in the table below. The table 
demonstrates that this year the Panels have recommended approval for 76 
households and matches for 79 children in total. 
By way of comparison, at the end of September in 2013/14 the Panel had 
recommended the approval of 75 adopter households (all were approved by the 
ADM, three of which were approved in October 2013) and matches for 79 children 
(all were approved by the ADM, with the matches for four children actually approved 
in October).  

Page 84



 
 

6. Training and Development 
Panel members were all invited to the annual “Adoption Summit” held by the 
Adoption Service in July 2014 and a further full-day event involving Adoption Service 
staff and social care staff is planned for the 17th of November 2014.  
At the upcoming training event the Panel members and adoption staff will have the 
opportunity to review some of the issues raised in this report and to focus on 
developing a shared vision as to what makes a good assessment. The training will 
also explore the national picture in terms of Adoption and review the activity across 
the service in Kent. 
A system is in place to ensure that Panel members’ appraisals are planned and held 
annually and this ensures that individual learning and development needs are 
captured. This process will inform the Training Plan for 2015. 

7. Summary of Chair’s Comments 
7.1 WEST PANEL - Chair, Carey Baff 
Panel overview 
West panel has a core membership of experienced members and has welcomed a 
deputy Chair and a new member in the last few months: this has enhanced the 
range of knowledge and diversity on the Panel. There is a high representation of 
independent members, of whom one is an adopter, two are adoptees and one is a 
care leaver. 
All members attend most meetings and give apologies in good time if they are 
unable to. They also prepare well for the meeting, having read the paperwork and 
                                                           
1
 Decision was deferred and still has not yet been made by ADM 
2
 Match was approved by ADM 
3
 One decision was deferred and still has not yet been made by ADM 

4
 Application was rejected by ADM 
5
 Application was approved by ADM 
6
 Match was approved by ADM 

 Household 
Approvals 
Agreed by 
Panel 

Household 
Approvals 
Deferred by 
Panel  

Household 
Approvals 
Rejected by 
Panel 

Children 
Matches 
Agreed by 
Panel 
 

Children 
Matches 
Deferred by 
Panel 
 

Children 
Matches 
Rejected by 
Panel 
 

Term. of 
Approval 

North 20 0 11 10 12 0 1 
South 213 0 0 16 0 0 0 
East 18 0 0 33 0 0 3 
West 17 14 15 20 0 16 0 
Total 76 1 2 79 1 1 4 

Page 85



 
 

they raise thoughtful and helpful comments and questions, treating applicants and 
workers with due respect and consideration.  
Prospective adopters attend Panel meetings in relation to considerations of both 
their suitability to adopt and also matches to a particular child. Since January 2014 in 
most cases they remain included in the meeting to hear the recommendation, though 
they are asked to leave if Panel members have concerns or need further discussion 
before reaching a recommendation. 
Due to the volume of cases presented to some panels there is a need to ensure that 
agendas have sufficient time allocated for complex cases. This has been raised with 
the Agency and is being addressed. 
Quality of Reports  
Prospective Adopter Reports (PARs) are normally presented to Panel in time to 
allow the decision within the proscribed timescale and when this has been extended 
the reasons are clear. It has been noted that there has been an increase in the 
number of PARs being presented to Panel within timescale and this is a positive 
development. In general the PARs are considered to be of good quality, with a good 
balance between evidence and analysis. In a couple of cases the evidence 
supporting the social worker’s conclusions was not sufficiently articulated in the 
report and this was followed up by the Agency. The Agency Advisers have provided 
training to support social workers in completing CPRs and this is having a positive 
impact. 
In three cases the personal references did not meet the requirements of the 
Statutory Guidance on Adoption July 2013 in that too few referees were interviewed 
or were over-represented by family members. This was raised early in the year and 
guidance re-issued to staff. Following this action this has now been resolved. 
 
Most foster carer reports are very good and reflect a good understanding of, and 
sensitivity to, the needs of the child. A few have emphasised the challenges more 
than the joys of caring for the child. This has been discussed with the agency and 
training has been carried out with foster carers and their supervising social workers 
to support them with the completion of the form. 
 
Areas for Development 
 
As stated above the CPRs are a crucial record for both agency decision making and 
also form an important part of the child’s record. The Agency has put in place 
training and support for social workers and this is having a positive impact on the 
quality of the reports to Panel and needs to continue. 

 

Page 86



 
 

Adoption Support Plans should reflect the needs of the particular child. In two cases 
the support plans did not take full account of the child’s cultural heritage, although it 
was addressed in the other reports, this information needs to be reflected in support 
plans. 
  
7.2 NORTH PANEL – Chair, Mary Gordon 
Panel Overview 
North Panel has worked together well during these six months with all members 
prioritising attendance and asking relevant questions of applicants and social 
workers in a respectful manner. The Panel Chair started in March this year and a 
dedicated Vice Chair (a KCC manager) who began after that has been particularly 
welcome. There has been a change of Panel Adviser and several changes in Panel 
Administration and it is hoped for greater continuity in both these roles in the future. 
Panel members appraisals are all up to date for 2014 and most members were able 
to attend and benefit from the Kent Adoption Summit and the challenges presented 
there by the new information from research into adoption disruption. 
Quality of Reports  
Most reports from the County Adoption Service have been of a high quality. The 
increase in the diversity of prospective adopters has been apparent and linked with 
this diversity there appears to be a greater willingness in some adopters to consider 
older children. On rare occasions shortfalls in reports have been picked up by the 
Panel Adviser and the Panel Chair prior to the Panel meeting and supplementary 
information has usually been provided so that a recommendation can proceed 
without occasioning further delay.  
Several children have been recommended for adoption by their foster carers. This 
has obvious advantages in saving movement and disruption for the child and the 
adopters being absolutely clear about what they are taking on with a child to whom 
they are already attached. It has also resulted in permanent homes for some children 
with significant disabilities.  
CPRs relating to the child have also generally been of a high standard and Panel 
always checks on the progress of Life Story work for children as this is also vital to 
the adoptive parents to enable them to give a sympathetic and realistic picture to the 
child of their birth family. Adoption Activity Days held in Kent and with other local 
authorities have brought about interest, attachment and matches for children 
previously perceived as unadoptable on grounds of age and difficulty. We are not yet 
clear on the long term outcomes of these placements but through this process the 
“claiming” of a number of children has been very encouraging.  
Areas for Development 

Page 87



 
 

The issue of assessing the capacity for parental attachment has been raised when 
discussing potential adopters at Panel. This will be raised at the joint panel training 
day on 17th November 2014.  
Another general point would be a request for the Agency to review the time allocated 
to consider applicants as cases can currently overrun for a variety of often 
unavoidable reasons. This has been discussed with the agency and is being 
addressed, including the efficiency and use of Panel time. 
 
7.3 SOUTH PANEL- Chair, Laura Williams 
Panel Overview 
The new Medical Advisor has been a welcome addition to the Panel and he 
alternates with his colleague ensuring there is always a medical adviser present. He 
is able to put applicants at ease and raise difficult issues in a sensitive and helpful 
manner. The new Vice Chair also makes a very positive contribution to the Panel 
process, and when required, acts as a very effective Chair. There are currently three 
adopters on South Panel but no adoptees.   
The attendance of Panel members has been consistent, with all members’ 
attendance currently around 90%. Appraisals are undertaken when due. 
Quality of Reports  
The majority of PARs are of a good to excellent quality. Occasionally there is 
variation in the quality of the reports of independent social workers where they fall 
below expectation. In such instances the social worker would no longer be 
commissioned. Adoption Placement Reports are generally good, with clear evidence 
of family finding activity.  
Prior discussion with the Panel adviser has ensured that any concerns about reports 
are addressed prior to the case being presented to Panel. Feedback from applicants 
regarding their experience of attending Panel has generally been very positive. 
Wherever possible, applicants remain in the room when the Panel reaches its 
recommendation, and this seems to be appreciated, as does being given an idea of 
the Panel’s questions in the pre-meeting with the Chair. 
Areas for Development 
Where adopters are being matched with a child of different ethnicity the report 
should specifically set out how the adopters have reflected and prepared for this and 
what additional strategies they will use to help the child develop a positive identity 
and manage being visibly different from his/her parents.  

Page 88



 
 

The time allocated to each case can be restrictive and does not always allow Panel 
sufficient time to reflect and deliberate. Where applicants’ feedback has been less 
positive waiting time has often been a feature. It is acknowledged that attending 
Panel can be an anxious time for potential adopters and it is the role of the chair to 
keep them informed of the progress of the Panel.  
 
7.4 EAST PANEL – Chair, Cathy Yates 
Panel Overview 
The new Chair of the Panel was appointed in May 2014. During this time the Panel 
has worked very well together. It is clear that all Panel members are committed to 
their role and ask relevant and challenging questions of applicants and social 
workers. Panel members work well together as a team and are respectful to social 
workers and applicants coming before the Panel. The Panel is fortunate to have an 
excellent Vice Chair. During the last six months recruitment of a new member has 
taken place; a welcome addition to the Panel. 
As with the other Panels in Kent, East Panel has had a change of Panel Advisor and 
a relatively new administrator. The Panel is aware that recruitment is ongoing for 
permanent Panel Advisors, which will be welcome to provide continuity to the Panel. 
However, the support of the Interim Panel Advisor to the Panel has been welcome 
and of great benefit. 
Attendance of Panel members is generally good. One member’s attendance had 
dropped to below 75% and this was addressed in the appraisal and has improved 
significantly. Most Panel Members appraisals are completed with dates in the diary 
for those outstanding. 
Quality of Reports  
Overall the quality of PARs presented to the Panel has been of a high quality, 
demonstrating good analysis. Where there have occasionally been issues with the 
quality of reports, these have been identified by the Panel Chair and Panel Advisor 
before Panel and in every instance have been resolved, ensuring that cases can 
proceed and that there is no delay. Panel Members are also encouraged to contact 
the Panel Chair prior to Panel if there are any issues that they feel would prevent 
them from being able to form a recommendation on the day in order that these can 
be resolved prior to Panel. 
There is diversity in the applicants being presented to Panel having approved two 
sets of same sex couples during this period. The Panel has also approved its first 
“Fostering to Adopt Couple”. Fostering to Adopt is a challenging process, which 
Panel recognises is not right for everyone, but looks forward to considering more 
applications of this nature in the future. Panel felt that in this case the assessment 

Page 89



 
 

was of a high quality and it was clear that the applicants were fully understanding of 
the process and the differences in their roles as foster carers and adopters. 
The quality of CPRs presented to Panel has also, in the main, been of a good 
quality. For most cases the Life Story work, when checked by Panel, is in progress 
for the children. However, Panel would like to see more evidence of the Life Story 
work presented at Panel. The work that has been shown to Panel has generally 
been of a good standard. It is also worth noting that most adopters attend matching 
Panels with their family books, and photographs etc. to be shared with the child, 
evidencing the good support that they are clearly getting from the adoption team in 
preparing for a match.  
The matching meeting minutes presented to Panel have also generally been of a 
good quality and extremely helpful to Panel members to ensure that key issues have 
been identified and discussed in the matching process. Support plans for adopters 
and children have on occasions been considered too general and Panel has made 
some recommendations for more specific actions. However, this has only been in a 
few cases. 
Panel has been impressed that when managers have attended Panel they clearly 
know the applicants well and have been able to clarify any points raised. 
Areas for Development 
The issue of not having permanent Panel Advisors has already been raised above. 
Whilst it is no reflection on the Interim Panel Advisor, the Panel does look forward to 
having a permanent person in this role to provide continuity. 
Panel members are aware that the membership of the Panel is being reviewed. 
Since May 2014, the majority of Panels have been all day Panels considering 8 or 
more cases and sometimes including Approval and Matches at the same time and 
matches of multiple siblings. Whilst the Panel is fully supportive of the need to 
ensure that cases are dealt with speedily and that children are not subjected to delay 
due to lack of Panel time, it does feel that the times allocated for discussing cases 
should be reviewed.  

Page 90



 
 

 

8. Summary and Conclusion 
The Chairs report a balanced view of the work of the Adoption Agency in respect of 
work presented to Panel and have identified a number of strengths and areas for 
improvement. Many of the issues raised in the report have already been highlighted 
to the Agency as they have arisen and these have been addressed. A summary of 
the chairs’ key findings and observations is set out below and will be included in the 
Agency Action Plan, which is completed by the Agency Advisers. 
Areas for further development: 

• Quality Assurance needs to be strengthened further and the new systems 
embedded 

• Need a continued focus on improving the quality of panel documentation to 
ensure it is all of a consistently high standard  

• The efficiency and effectiveness of Panels needs to be reviewed with Panel 
Chairs and Advisers to ensure that they can respond to changing levels of 
activity including the current recorded reduction in activity 

• Further discussions are needed with the respective Health Trusts to clarify the 
roles and responsibilities of the Panel Medical Advisers, that their role on 
Panel is clear; regular liaison meetings are now in place 

Areas of strength: 
• The overall quality of the reports presented to Panel are of a good quality and 

are timely  
• The success in recruiting same sex adopters is viewed as a positive 

development within the service  
• Recent recruitment of Chairs and Vice Chairs and some new Panel members 

has strengthened Panels 
• Feedback from adopters and social workers is positive about the experience 

of Panel and the level of preparation for adopters 
• Panels are described as well-functioning and attendance is good and 

consistent 
• Life story books that are presented to Panel are of a good quality. 

 
 
 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A2 Minutes of the Panel meeting held on 24 October 2014
	A5 Cabinet Member's Verbal Update
	B1 The Share Foundation and Junior ISAs for Children in Care
	B1 - App A - Briefing on The Share Foundation

	B2 Therapy and Counselling services for Children and Young People with Emotional Wellbeing needs (including mental health)
	B3 Update on Adoption Service
	B3 - App 1 - Adopters Journey April to Sept 2014
	B3 - App 2 - Childrens Journey April to Sept 2014
	B3 - App 3 - Panel Chairs Report April to Sept 2014


